
Please Contact: Sarah Baxter  on 01270 686462
E-Mail: sarah.baxter@cheshireeast.gov.uk with any apologies or request for 

further information
                                Speakingatplanning@cheshireeast.gov.uk  to arrange to speak at the 

meeting

Strategic Planning Board
Agenda

Date: Wednesday, 31st January, 2018
Time: 10.30 am
Venue: The Capesthorne Room - Town Hall, Macclesfield SK10 1EA

Please note that members of the public are requested to check the Council's 
website the week the Strategic Planning Board meeting is due to take place as 
Officers produce updates for some or all of the applications prior to the 
commencement of the meeting and after the agenda has been published.

The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. 
Part 2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons 
indicated on the agenda and in the report.

It should be noted that Part 1 items of Cheshire East Council decision making and 
Overview and Scrutiny meetings are audio recorded and the recordings will be uploaded to 
the Council’s website.

PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT

1. Apologies for Absence  

To receive any apologies for absence.

2. Declarations of Interest/Pre Determination  

To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any disclosable 
pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests and for Members to declare if they have a pre-
determination in respect of any item on the agenda.

3. Minutes of the Previous Meeting  (Pages 3 - 10)

mailto:gaynor.hawthornthwaite@cheshireeast.gov.uk
mailto:Speakingatplanning@cheshireeast.gov.uk


To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 20 December 2017 as a correct 
record.

4. Public Speaking  

A total period of 5 minutes is allocated for each of the planning applications for the 
following:

 Ward Councillors who are not members of the Strategic Planning Board
 The relevant Town/Parish Council

A period of 3 minutes is allocated for each of the planning applications for the 
following individuals/groups:

 Members who are not members of the Strategic Planning Board and are not 
the Ward Member

 Objectors
 Supporters
 Applicants

5. 16/6237M-Demolition of existing clubhouse, erection of new clubhouse, laying 
out of new pitches and residential development of 76 dwellings, Priory Park, 
Priory Lane, Macclesfield for Jones Homes North West Ltd and Macclesfield 
Rugby Union Football Club  (Pages 11 - 44)

To consider the above application.

6. Update following the resolution of Minded to Refuse  application 12/3747N - 
Residential development up to a maximum of 189 dwellings; local centre (Class 
A1 to A5 inclusive and D1) with maximum floor area of 1800sqm Gross Internal 
Area (GIA); employment development (B1b, B1c, B2 and B8) with a maximum 
floor area of 3,700sqm GIA; primary school; public open space including new 
village green, children's play area and allotments; green infrastructure 
including ecological area; new vehicle and pedestrian site access points and 
associated works, Land between Audlem Road/Broad Lane & Peter Destapleigh 
Way, Stapeley  and 12/3746N - New highway access road, including footways 
and cycleway and associated works, Land off Peter Destapeleigh Way, 
Nantwich 
  (Pages 45 - 50)

To consider the above report.

7. Planning Appeals  (Pages 51 - 64)

To consider the above report.

8. Publication in Full of Viability Assessments  (Pages 65 - 70)

To consider the above report.



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL

Minutes of a meeting of the Strategic Planning Board
held on Wednesday, 20th December, 2017 at The Assembly Room - Town 

Hall, Macclesfield SK10 1EA

PRESENT

Councillor G Merry (Chairman)
Councillor J Hammond (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors B Burkhill, S Edgar (Substitute), T Fox, S Hogben, D Hough, 
J Jackson, J Macrae, S Pochin, M Sewart and L Smetham

OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE

Ms S Dillon (Senior Lawyer), Mr K Foster (Principal Planning Officer), Mr N 
Jones (Principal Development Officer), Mr D Malcolm (Head of Planning 
(Regulation)) and Miss N Wise-Ford (Principal Planning Officer)

68 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor L Wardlaw.

69 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST/PRE DETERMINATION 

It was noted that Members had received correspondence in respect of 
applications 17/4521M and 17/3853M.

In the interest of openness in respect of applications 17/4521M and 
17/3853M, Councillor J Hammond declared that he was a Director of 
ANSA who had been a consultee, however he had not made any 
comments or discussed the application.

In the interest of openness in respect of application 17/3374N, Councillor 
S Edgar declared that he was the Ward Councillor for Shavington and the 
Parish Councillor for Weston and Basford Parish Council.

In the interest of openness in respect of applications 17/4521M and 
17/3853M, Councillor S Hogben declared that he was a Director of ANSA 
who were had been a consultee, however he had not made any comments 
or discussed the application.

In the interest of openness in respect of application 17/3374N, Councillor J 
Hammond declared that he was the Ward Councillor for Weston and 
Basford.

In the interest of openness Councillor D Hough declared that he was 
Director of TSS who organise bus routes, however no bus routes were 



being considered today in respect of any of the applications on the 
agenda.

In the interest of openness in respect of application 17/4371M, Councillor 
L Smetham declared that she was the Ward Councillor for part of the area 
the application was in.

70 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

RESOLVED

That the minutes of the meeting held on 22 November 2107 be approved 
as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

71 PUBLIC SPEAKING 

RESOLVED

That the public speaking procedure be noted.

72 17/4521M-FULL PLANNING APPLICATION FOR THE ERECTION OF 
174 RESIDENTIAL DWELLINGS, NEW ROUNDABOUT ONTO 
STANNEYLANDS ROAD, PUBLIC OPEN SPACE, 
PEDESTRIAN/CYCLEWAY CONNECTION BETWEEN LINNEYS 
BRIDGE AND THE RIVER DEAN, A NEW BRIDGE CROSSING OF THE 
RIVER DEAN, AND ASSOCIATED WORKS, LAND AT 
STANNEYLANDS ROAD, WILMSLOW, SK9 4ER FOR ANDREW 
TAYLOR, BARRATT & DAVID WILSON HOMES NORTH WEST 

Consideration was given to the above application.

(Councillor D Stockton, the Ward Councillor, Town Councillor Christopher 
Dodson, representing Wilmslow Town Council, Stuart Redgard, an 
objector, Ashely Weinberg, an objector and Sam Ryan, representing the 
applicant attended the meeting and spoke in respect of the application).

RESOLVED

That for the reasons set out in the report the application be approved 
subject to the completion of a Section 106 Agreement securing the 
following:-

-Provision of 30% affordable units.
-Educational contribution of towards secondary and SEN provision of 
£499,567
-Contribution towards ROS of £122,000 if the public open space is to be 
maintained through a management company. 
-Contribution to Indoor Recreation of £25,500
-Contribution towards health provision of £185,679



-Management Plan for the on-site public open space and LEAP or transfer 
of this to the Council to maintain with a commuted sum of £488,293 
-Contribution for monitoring of Travel Plan £5,000
-Provision of the bridge across the River Dean
-A financial contribution to be agreed for the provision of a direct 
pedestrian / cycle route to Manchester Road or improvements to the local 
cycle and footpath network between the site and Manchester Road of 
£150,000. 
-A financial contribution to the provision of MOVA on the junction of 
Manchester Road and Stanneylands Road of £80,000

And subject to the following conditions:-

1. Contaminated land 
2. Importation of soil
3. Unexpected contamination
4. Tree retention
5. Tree protection
6. Arboricultural method statement
7. Landscaping - submission of details
8. Landscaping (implementation)
9. Time period to implement permission.
10. Plans
11. Implement in accordance with FRA
12. Levels details
13. Pedestrian and cycle signage
14. Submission and implementation of Travel Plan
15. Pedestrian cycle routes through the site
16. Implement noise recommendations
17. Construction environment management plan
18. Provision of Electric Vehicle Charging Points
19. Details and implementation of bridge
20. Details of play area
21. Proposals to incorporate features for breeding birds.
22. Landscape and habitat management plan
23. Bird nesting season
24. Provision for hedgehogs through the site
25. Updated badger survey
26. Bat friendly lighting scheme
27. Retention of trees
28. Water vole mitigation
29. Updated Otter Survey
30. Method statement - gressland relocation
31. Surface water details
32. Materials as submitted
33. Cycle facilities for apartments
34. Refuse storage for apartments
35. Pedestrian crossing to be built prior to occupation of the houses

(The Board requested it be noted that their preference was for the crossing 



be a signalled crossing rather than a zebra crossing).

In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Board’s 
decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions / informatives / planning 
obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the decision being 
issued, the Head of Planning (Regulation) delegated authority to do so in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Strategic Planning Board, provided 
that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the Board’s 
decision.

(During consideration of the application the meeting was adjourned for a 
short break.  The meeting was then adjourned for lunch from 12.43pm until 
1.20pm).

73 17/4370M-THE PROPOSAL INCLUDES THE CREATION OF A NEW, 
SINGLE STOREY BUILDING TO HOUSE A HERITAGE EXHIBITION 
AND VISITOR CENTRE. IN CONJUNCTION WITH THIS, NEW 
FOOTPATHS, LANDSCAPING AND ASSOCIATED ENABLING WORKS 
ARE PROVIDED, JODRELL BANK OBSERVATORY, MACCLESFIELD 
ROAD, JODRELL BANK, CHESHIRE FOR UNIVERSITY OF 
MANCHESTER 

Consideration was given to the above application.

(Adam Atraktzi, the Architect for the applicant attended the meeting and 
spoke in respect of the application).

RESOLVED

That for the reasons set out in the report and in the written update to the 
Board, the application be approved subject to the following conditions:-

1. Time Limit
2. Approved Plans
3. Landscaping Scheme to include Wych Elm and the details of 

location of replacement planting.
4. Landscape Implementation
5. Materials as per application unless otherwise agreed
6. Prior to the commencement of development a detailed method 

statement of Great Crested Newt Reasonable Avoidance Measures 
is to be submitted to and agreed by the LPA.  The proposed 
development to proceed in accordance with the agreed method 
statement.

7. Nesting Birds Safeguarding
8. Lighting scheme to be submitted
9. Tree Retention unless otherwise agreed
10. Tree Protection measures to be submitted
11. Tree pruning felling specification 
12. Arboricultural Method Statement 



13. No development shall take place until a detailed strategy / design 
and associated management / maintenance plan of surface water 
drainage for the site has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The drainage design must also 
include information about the discharge rates, designs storm period 
and intensity (1 in 30 & 1 in 100 (+30% allowance for Climate 
Change))& any temporary storage facilities included, to ensure 
adequate drainage is implemented on site.

14. (a)Any soil or soil forming materials to be brought to site for use in 
or soft landscaping shall be tested for contamination and suitability 
for use prior to importation to site.  
(b)Prior to occupation, evidence and verification information (for 
example, laboratory certificates) shall be submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the LPA.

15. Unexpected contamination to be reported to the LPA.

74 17/4371M-THIS APPLICATION RELATES TO THE IMPROVEMENT OF 
VISITOR ARRIVALS AND CAPACITY. IT COMPRISES OF THE 
MODIFICATION AND EXTENSION TO THE EXISTING VISITOR CAR 
PARK AND THE CONSTRUCTION OF AN EXTERNAL TICKET BOOTH 
/ ENTRY PORTAL ADJACENT TO THE EXISTING JODRELL BANK 
DISCOVERY CENTRE PLANET PAVILION. IT INCLUDES 
LANDSCAPING WORKS, FENCING AND ASSOCIATED ENABLING 
WORKS, JODRELL BANK OBSERVATORY, MACCLESFIELD ROAD, 
JODRELL BANK, CHESHIRE FOR UNIVERSITY OF MANCHESTER 

Consideration was given to the above application.

(Adam Atraktzi, the Architect for the applicant attended the meeting and 
spoke in respect of the application).

RESOLVED

That for the reasons set out in the report and in the written update to the 
Board, the application be approved subject to the following conditions:-

1. Time Limit
2. Approved Plans
3. Landscaping and Floorscape Scheme to include replacement 

hedgerow planting, Wych Elm and larger species trees around car 
parking area.

4. Landscape Implementation
5. Materials as per application unless otherwise agreed
6. Prior to the commencement of development a detailed method 

statement of Great Crested Newt Reasonable Avoidance Measures 
is to be submitted to and agreed by the LPA.  The proposed 
development to proceed in accordance with the agreed method 
statement.

7. Nesting Birds Safeguarding
8. Features for breeding birds to be submitted and installed



9. The felling of any tree identified as having low bat roost potential 
should be undertaken in accordance with the measures detailed in 
paragraph 5.3.5 of the submitted Extended Phase One Habitat 
Survey prepared by WYG dated February 2017

10. Lighting scheme to be submitted
11. Tree Retention unless otherwise agreed
12. Tree Protection measures to be submitted
13. Tree pruning felling specification 
14. Arboricultural Method Statement 
15. No development shall take place until a detailed strategy / design 

and associated management / maintenance plan of surface water 
drainage for the site has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The drainage design must also 
include information about the designs storm period and intensity (1 
in 30 & 1 in 100 (+30% allowance for Climate Change)) & any 
temporary storage facilities included, to ensure adequate drainage 
is implemented on site.

16. 5% of spaces to include electric vehicle charging points.

75 17/3374N-APPROVAL OF RESERVED MATTERS (APPEARANCE, 
LANDSCAPING, LAYOUT AND SCALE), PURSUANT TO 14/0378N 
FOR PHASE 1 OF THE BASFORD WEST DEVELOPMENT SITE, 
CREWE ROAD, CREWE,  BASFORD WEST DEVELOPMENT SITE, 
CREWE, CHESHIRE FOR GOODMAN 

Consideration was given to the above application.

(Ian Prichard, representing the applicant attended the meeting and spoke 
in respect of the application).

RESOLVED

That for the reasons set out in the report and in the written update to the 
Board, the application be approved subject to the following conditions:-

1. To comply with outline permission
2. Development in accord with approved plans
3. Materials   
4. Implementation of Ecological Mitigation and Habitat Management  

Plan  
5. Details of GCN ponds 
6. Detailed specification of bunding alongside A500   
7. Implementation of  landscaping 
8. Details of footpath link and signage

In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Board's 
decision (such as to delete, vary or add Conditions/informatives/planning 
obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the decision being 
issued, the Head of Planning (Regulation) has delegated authority to do so 
in consultation with the Chairman of the Strategic Planning Board, 



provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the 
Board's decision.

76 17/3853M-OUTLINE PLANNING APPLICATION WITH MEANS OF 
ACCESS TO BE DETERMINED (ALL OTHER MATTERS RESERVED 
FOR SUBSEQUENT APPROVAL) FOR THE ERECTION OF UP TO 260 
DWELLINGS (CLASS C3); THE PROVISION OF SERVICED LAND FOR 
ALLOTMENTS; A COMMUNITY ORCHARD, A PLAYING PITCH, 
LANDSCAPING AND OPEN SPACE; NEW INTERNAL HIGHWAYS, 
CAR AND CYCLE PARKING; SUSTAINABLE DRAINAGE MEASURES 
INCLUDING SURFACE WATER RETENTION PONDS, PROVISION OF 
UTILITIES INFRASTRUCTURE; EARTHWORKS AND ALL ANCILLARY 
ENABLING WORKS, LAND NORTH OF NORTHWICH ROAD, 
KNUTSFORD FOR MR STEVE MELLIGAN, THE CROWN ESTATE 

Consideration was given to the above application.

(Councillor T Dean, the Ward Councillor, Terry Griffiths, representing 
Nether Ward Community Group (NWCG) and Stacey Green, the agent for 
the applicant attended the meeting and spoke in respect of the 
application).

RESOLVED

That the application be deferred in order for further discussions to take 
place regarding the number of houses being proposed.

The meeting commenced at 10.30 am and concluded at 3.43 pm

Councillor G Merry (Chairman)





   Application No: 16/6237M

   Location: Priory Park, PRIORY LANE, MACCLESFIELD, CHESHIRE, SK10 4AE

   Proposal: Demolition of existing clubhouse, erection of new clubhouse, laying out of 
new pitches and residential development of 76 dwellings.

   Applicant: Jones Homes North West Ltd and Macclesfield Rugby Union Football 
Club

   Expiry Date: 27-Apr-2017

SUMMARY 16/6237M

The application is a full application for the redevelopment of Macclesfield Rugby Club to 
provide new facilities and the reconfiguration of playing pitches. The proposal is described as 
an enabling development proposal and includes 76 dwellings in total.

The site is located within the Green Belt where there is a presumption against inappropriate 
development. A viability exercise has demonstrated clearly that the level of investment 
required to redevelop and enhance the club facilities is genuine, and that the receipt for the 
land requires that level of development in order to be viable and to be able to provide 
mitigation. 

The proposal is not fully policy compliant in terms of obligations, namely affordable housing 
which does suffer as a result of the viability of the development. As part of the application 
process, the club has proposed the only option as being the full redevelopment of the site 
rather than it being piecemeal or on an ad hoc basis over time. 

Having carefully considered the application, it is considered that whilst a case for very special 
circumstances has been put forward, which includes the enhancement of the rugby club 
facilities and the provision of housing at the site, these do not outweigh the harm to the Green 
Belt by way of inappropriateness or any other harm which includes the impact on the 
openness of the Green Belt, and the issues with the design and amenity mentioned in the 
officers report. The proposal does not represent a sustainable form of development. 

It is considered therefore that in this case the benefits of the scheme do not outweigh the 
harm. The proposal is contrary to policy PG3 of the Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy, policy 
SE1 of the Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy and policy saved policy DC38 of the 
Macclesfield Borough Local Plan. 

SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION Refuse

PROPOSAL
The application is a full application for the redevelopment of Macclesfield Rugby Club to 
provide new facilities and the reconfiguration of playing pitches. The proposal is described as 



an enabling development proposal and includes 76 dwellings in total, 8 of which are 
affordable tenure 3 intermediate and 5 social rented. The applicant proposes to sell a 
proportion of the land associated with the club along the frontage with Priory Lane for 
development which will then fund the new clubhouse building and associated facilities. 

The proposed housing mix is as follows:

Hollin x 3 – 4 bed detached
Bowdon x 3 – 5 bed detached 
Banbury x 14 – 4 bed detached
Latchford II x 3 – 5 bed detached
Styal x 2 – 4 bed detached
Davenham 17 x 11 – 4 bed detached
Thornton x 4 – 3 bed semi-detached
Langley x 12 – 3 bed semi-detached
Cranford x 14 – 2 bed mews 
1 Bed Apartment x 4 
1 Bed Bungalow x 6  

The existing clubhouse will be demolished and a new modern clubhouse erected on the site. 
The proposed clubhouse will be at a different orientation. The existing clubhouse is located to 
the south of the main pitch, with the length of the building orientated north/south. The 
proposed clubhouse would be located to the west of the proposed main pitch which will also 
be re-orientated. The proposal includes a total of the following facilities:

- New Clubhouse
- U6/7s Pitch
- U8s Pitch
- U9/10s Pitch
- U11s Pitch 
- 2 Adult Grass Pitches
- 1 Adult 3G Pitch

The proposal also includes formalising of the existing car parking arrangements. The 
application will see the loss of 4 small pitches. There is an existing artificial pitch to the south 
of the site which will be retained. The proposal includes ball stop fencing along the north and 
western boundary with the proposed dwellings, there will be a buffer zone between the 
dwellings to the northern portion of the site and the proposed rugby pitches. 

The proposals have been subject of several amendments over the course of the application. 
The clubhouse has been redesigned following comments from the Council, further the layout 
and house types have been amended following discussions with the Council. 

The application has been viability tested and as a result of the viability exercise which would 
enable the full funding of the facilities proposed the development can provide the following 
benefits which would be secured by a Section 106 agreement. 

- 8 of the dwellings proposed would be affordable at a full policy compliant tenure split



- £225,270 towards education – providing 11 x £17,959 x 0.91 = £179,770.00 
(secondary)
1 x £50,000 x 0.91 = £45,500.00 (SEN)

- £50,000 towards public open space
- £50,000 towards highway improvements
- £48,350 towards an air quality improvement package

The application proposes a shared access road which will be used by the rugby club and the 
proposed residential development.

SITE DESCRIPTION

The application site extends to approximately 11.6ha located to the west of Priory Lane, and 
comprises the Macclesfield Rugby Club. The Macclesfield Rugby Club has expanded over 
time with additional pitches. The site has been used by MRUFC since September 1980. The 
site is bounded by hedgerows with a number of large trees to the front of the site. The site 
has Fallibroome School located to the south which has a footpath link. There are two 
properties immediately to the south of the site, and one property to the north on the 
crossroads with Priory Lane and Alderley Road.

The frontage along Priory Lane has detached dwellings in generous plots located opposite 
the northern portion of the site, to the southern portion of the site along Priory Lane opposite 
the rugby club is a higher density housing development leading south towards the town of 
Macclesfield. 

To the north of the site is a crossroads with Alderley Road which leads to Macclesfield in a 
south easterly direction. Macclesfield Town Centre and railway station are located 
approximately 2.72km from the site as the crow flies, however the route into Macclesfield is 
relatively direct. Along Priory Lane are Macclesfield Leisure Centre, Fallibroome Academy 
and Macclesfield Rugby Club forming a sporting corridor. 

RELEVANT HISTORY

9704P, Rugby Pitch and screen planting, Approved, 23-Mar-1977

51466P, Three floodlighting columns, Approved, 08-Jan-1988

76168P, Raise ground level to form rugby pitch (no.7) erection of 8 floodlights to existing pitch 
(no.1) and associated landscaping, Approved, 01-May-1994

33398P, Illuminated box sign, Refused, 05-May-1983

26943P, 8 Floodlights around pitch 1kw strength & 20ft high, Approved, 22-Jul-1981

23747P, 4.5 Metre wide private driveway, Approved, 19-Sep-1980

16309P, 6 squash courts (outline), Approved, 22-Nov-1978

12505P, Clubhouse, Approved, 16-Nov-1977



97/2029P, 8 Floodlights mounted on 8 metre high columns (pitch no 4), Approved, 27-Nov-
1997

03/3114P, Golf driving range, Withdrawn, 15-Jan-2004

04/0474P, Golf driving range (resubmission of 03/3114P), Approved, 01-Apr-2004

16/5798S, EIA  screening opinion for new clubhouse, pitches, associated facilities and 75 
dwellings, EIA not required, 14-Feb-2017

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy 2010-2030 July 2017
The following are considered relevant material considerations
SD 1 Sustainable Development in Cheshire East
SD 2 Sustainable Development Principles
SE 1 Design
SE 2 Efficient Use of Land
SE 3 Biodiversity and Geodiversity
SE 4 The Landscape
SE 5 Trees, Hedgerows and Woodland
SE 9 Energy Efficient Development
SE 12 Pollution, Land Contamination and Land Instability
SE 13 Flood Risk and Water Management
CO 1 Sustainable Travel and Transport
CO 2 Enabling Business Growth Through Transport Infrastructure
CO 4 Travel Plans and Transport Assessments
SC 1 Leisure and Recreation
SC 2 Outdoor Sports Facilities
SC 5 Affordable Homes
IN 1 Infrastructure
IN 2 Developer Contributions
PG 1 Overall Development Strategy
PG 2 Settlement Hierarchy
PG 3 Green Belts
EG 1 Economic Prosperity

Macclesfield Borough Local Plan
In addition to the now adopted LPS, saved policies of the Macclesfield Borough Local Plan 
also form part of the development plan. 

The relevant Saved Polices are: -
Environment
NE3 – Protection of Local Landscapes
NE11 – Protection and enhancement of nature conservation interests
NE17 – Nature Conservation in Major Developments
Housing
H9 – Occupation of Affordable Housing



Recreation and Tourism
RT5 – Open Space
RT6 – Allocated for additional Informal Recreational Facilities
RT7 – Recreation / Open Spaces Provision
Development Control
DC3 – Amenity
DC6 – Circulation and Access
DC8 – Landscaping
DC9 – Tree Protection
DC15 – Provision of Facilities
DC17 – Water Resources
DC35 – Materials and Finishes
DC36 – Road Layouts and Circulation
DC37 – Landscaping
DC38 – Space Light and Privacy
DC40 – Children’s Play Provision and Amenity Space
DC41 – Infill Housing Development
DC63 – Contaminated Land

The saved Local Plan policies are consistent with the NPPF and should be given full weight.

National Policy:

National Planning Policy Framework

Of particular relevance – 
Part 3 – Supporting a prosperous rural economy
Part 6 – delivering a wide choice of quality homes
Part 7 – requiring good design
Part 8 – promoting healthy communities
Part 9 – Protecting Green Belt land
Decision-taking

Other Material Considerations:

National Planning Practice Guidance 

CONSULTATIONS 

Housing – No objection to housing numbers based on robust viability exercise, however 
objects to the layout with affordable units in a single cluster
Not pepper-potted across the site.

Education - Conclusion: No objection subject to developer contribution of £225,270.00.

Cheshire East Council Greenspace Comments – Commuted sum of £50,000 required. 
Onsite Recreation Open Space (ROS) proposed sufficient to alleviate requirement for a 
contribution. 



Cheshire East Council Indoor Sport Comments – Whilst under the new CELPS policies 
there would normally be a requirement for a contribution from 76 dwellings towards indoor 
sport & recreation, given the investment in new sport and recreation as part of the application 
it is considered that this should be waived.

Highways – In these circumstances the application is considered acceptable subject to a 
financial S106 contribution of £50,000 to provide additional pedestrian facilities at the junction 
of Alderley Road/Macclesfield Road/ Prestbury Road and conditions. 

Environmental Protection – No objections subject to conditions and financial contribution. 

PROW – I have consulted the Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way and can confirm that the 
development does not appear to affect a public right of way.

Environment Agency - This site is Flood Zone 1 and there are no "main river" watercourses 
on/adjacent, so Flood Risk Standing Advice will apply, we advise that the LLFA are consulted.

We have reviewed the Preliminary Geo-Environmental Assessment, for Priory Lane, 
Prestbury, prepared by RSK, ref: 321807, dated 25th September 2015 with respect to 
potential risks to controlled waters from land contamination.

Based on the information provided the report does not indicate that the site is likely to pose a 
significant risk to controlled waters, therefore, we have no requirements for additional works 
at this time or recommendations for planning conditions to be imposed in respect of controlled 
waters.

United Utilities – No objections subject to conditions

Flood Risk Team – No objections subject to conditions

Sport England – Objection removed following submission of further information

VIEWS OF THE TOWN COUNCIL

Macclesfield Town Council -  

i. Removal of the green gap
ii. Merging of conurbations (Macclesfield & Prestbury)
iii. Compaction of highways issues associated with the recently approved and adjacent King’s 
School development
iv. Noise pollution based on proximity to sports club
v. Design quality due to over development
vi. Over development of the proposed site
vii. Development on the green belt without properly demonstrating exception circumstances 
as required by the National Planning Policy Framework
viii. Public health risks due to increased traffic pollution, identifying recent Cheshire East air 
quality data for Macclesfield (Cheshire East Council has a statutory duty to implement the 
Local Air Quality Management function (LAQM) for its area in accordance with legislative 
requirements laid down in part IV of the Environment Act 1995.)



Prestbury Parish Council – 

1. This development is situated in the green belt and is not an allocated site within the local 
plan. It does not meet any of the very special circumstances set down in NPPF 55. This site is 
a very important piece of green belt as it is the gateway to Prestbury Village.
2. We consider this to be an inappropriate development in the local settlement pattern as 
stated in the Village Design Statement and does not meet the criteria of Paragraph 56 of 
NPPF.
3. We consider that the increase in the size of the new club house by 50% is inappropriate 
development in green belt in accordance with Policy PG3.
4. We consider that the development does not meet the design guidance in terms of density, 
design and appearances when located adjacent to open space or the countryside
5. We are very concerned about the removal of a number of trees which provide a significant 
contribution to the amenity of the area and is in contravention of local plan policy DC9 and 
local plan strategy SE5.

REPRESENTATIONS

Macclesfield Civic Society – 
1. we see no objection to new or improved pitches, a new club house (subject to suitable 
siting, materials and design and no unacceptable loss of openness of the Green Belt).
2. we note the highway consideration is based on the assumption that the double roundabout 
junction at Priory Lane/Alderley Road is in place by 2020 - as this is not yet secured surely 
the residential element is premature even if it was acceptable in principle (which it is not).
3. the residential development cannot be regarded as an enhancement given the urban 
design comments.
4. the sole justification for the residential element of the scheme (as "very special 
circumstances") remains financial - it is not considered that this represents sufficient weight to 
rebut the presumption against inappropriate development in the Green Belt.
5. if permission is granted it would represent planning by expediency - not a rational, 
reasoned or reasonable approach.
 
115 letters received in total (7 of which relate to the latest reconsultation
In objection

- Neighbour at 70 Priory Lane, modification to the type of housing adjacent to property is 
welcome, although scale and nature of development remains unchanged.

- Traffic issues at Prestbury Road/Priory Lane Junction
- Concerns over Japanese Knotweed concerns have been considered and support the 

recommendations of the additional surveys and control of Japanese Knotweed and 
Himalayan Balsam.

- Fallibroome School – development will add 76 dwellings to the local area, increase in 
traffic causing hazard to students in morning and after school. Move of Kings School to 
the area will add further traffic.

- Danger to children at adjacent school through additional traffic
- MRUFC already has a clubhouse above the standard of many clubs and has a first 

class grass pitch on a natural sandbed draining well.
- The existing clubhouse facility could be extended on the present site.



- MRUFC is a members club all paying subscriptions of around £110 annually so not a 
community facility.

- Proposed development will link Upton Priory to Prestbury
- Application is predicated on high ambitions for the club for the future rather than 

current needs. 
- Noise generated by the proposed development
- Residential part of the plan is not driven by need – not in the local plan.
- Need for funding the rugby club is not strong enough to justify allowing residential 

development that encroaches into the Green Belt outside the local plan. 
- Location of affordable housing is not pepper potted and crammed under powerlines
- Community groups will need to be able to pay to use the community facility
- No mains sewer on Priory Lane
- Other community facilities are already available in the area
- Proposed houses are standard boxes not in keeping with the area
- Please consider a roundabout

In support
- What the local community needs – a modern sports facility to compliment the nearby 

leisure centre
- The proposal will welcome schools, football clubs, ladies teams etc. 
- 76 dwellings will have a minimal effect on traffic if any

Original consultation responses

In support

- Caterer for Macclesfield Rugby Club in support of the planning application. 
- New clubhouse will see more use from the local community company would expect to 

employ an extra person.
- No disabled access to existing function room, the new development would have a lift in 

the clubhouse.
- Facilities are often offered for free for sporting events
- Macclesfield RUFC is instrumental in supporting the Macclesfield School Sport 

Partnership
- England Rugby – The rugby club has served the local community, providing access to 

rugby for young and old. The club provides coaches and support for local schools and 
allow them to use their facilities on a regular basis. The proposals would allow the club 
to diversify and grow their rugby offer to the local schools and community. The new 
facility would allow the club to try and recruit a womens/girls section for the first time 
which would be heavily supported by the RFU’s local delivery team. The new facility 
would allow the club to grow their social offer, allowing older/lapsed players back to the 
game fixtures on Friday evenings, supported by the RFU. The club has one of, if not 
the largest Mini and junior section in the country. Their new facility and AGP will help 
them to improve their offer and cut down on games/training sessions lost to bad 
weather. 

- Facilities when related to other rugby clubs are good, however if the club is to maintain 
this superior status it has to move on. Facilities are now aged and tired, inadequate 
standards. Playing pitch cannot stand up to constant use. 



- Improvements are long overdue
- Proposal will benefit those in surrounding areas not just immediate
- Soccer teams also use rugby club facilities
- Object to a development so close to the centre of Prestbury Village 
- 3G pitch welcomed 
- Strongly support the future development of a community club
- Housing is much needed in the area
- Excellent opportunity for Macclesfield as a whole
- Good for health and wellbeing
- Year round facility
- Would compliment local facilities
- The loss of the rugby club would have a greater impact then the loss of some unused 

wasted Green Belt land. 

In objection

- Not a community facility – private subscription paying members club, unable to 
manage finances

- Housing is not in keeping with density and style locally
- Traffic impact
- Pedestrian safety
- Affordable housing under pylons is disappointing
- Kings School will be providing flood lit pitches to benefit the local community so 

proposed Macclesfield Rugby Club benefits are reduced. 
- The original rugby club is an example of poor planning due to the positioning of the 

clubhouse.
- Traffic surveys done in August
- Proposal will destroy the Green Belt
- If the pitches had been correctly maintained in the past this would not be required
- Level of affordable housing not to requirements
- The development along with Kings School development will cause additional traffic 

problems
- Concerns that pitch lighting will affect neighbour environment, lighting from Falibroome 

School is very bright. 
- Air pollution

APPLICANT'S SUPPORTING INFORMATION

- Bat survey and further bat survey
- Complete Arboricultural Statement
- Lighting Details
- Redacted enabling development statement
- Arboricultural impact assessment
- Design and access statement
- Ball stop fencing specification
- Dusk and night bat surveys – daytime bat survey
- Air quality assessment
- Noise impact assessment



- Statement of community involvement
- Tree Survey
- AGP fencing specification
- Ground conditions
- Flood Risk Assessment
- Preliminary Geo-Environmental Assessment
- Planning Statement
- Existing pitch drainage information
- Existing topographical survey
- Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment
- Transport Assessment

APPRAISAL

Key Issues
- Principle of development
- Green Belt 
- Very Special Circumstances
- Local Plan Update
- Affordable Housing and Housing Mix
- Education
- Public Open Space & Recreation
- Indoor Sport
- Highways
- Public Rights of Way/Access
- Urban Design
- Landscape Impact
- Trees
- Ecology
- Amenity
- Flood Risk
- Viability
- Section 106 agreement 
- Representations
- Conclusions
- Recommendation

Principle of development

The site is located within the Cheshire Green Belt on the edge of the town of Macclesfield. 
The site is an existing Rugby Club facility. 

Developments for outdoor sport and recreation are considered to be a complimentary and 
acceptable use within the Green Belt, paragraph 81 of the NPPF states that:

Once Green Belts have been defined, local planning authorities should plan positively 
to enhance the beneficial use of the Green Belt, such as looking for opportunities to 
provide access; to provide opportunities for outdoor sport and recreation; to retain and 
enhance landscapes, visual amenity and biodiversity; or to improve damaged and 
derelict land.



The Macclesfield Rugby Club is well established at the site and has been in situ since 1980 at 
Priory Park. The following teams use the site:

- First Senior Team, known as ‘The Blues’. The first team currently competes in the 
National Division One (i.e. the third tier in English Rugby Union league structure);
- Second Senior Team, known as ‘The Lions’. The second team compete in the 
Bateman Premier League (i.e. North West Regional League);
- Third and Fourth Senior Teams both play in a regional league system sponsored by 
the University of Salford;
- Youth teams and adult teams, play competitive rugby every week and are supported 
by an extensive coaching and medical team;
- Mini and junior rugby teams; and 
- MRUFC junior football. 

The site has been used for rugby for 38 years and is located entirely within the Green Belt. It 
is considered that the upgrading of facilities, such as the 3G pitch and the reconfiguration of 
facilities is considered to be an acceptable form of development within this area as they utilise 
the existing site. The proposal for the reconfiguration of the pitches is not considered to 
conflict with the purposes for including land within the Green Belt as they do not encroach 
beyond the existing perimeter of the site. 

The hardstanding however will be formalised towards the centre of the site for a more efficient 
car parking layout. This engineering operation will result in an additional area of hardstanding 
covering an area of around 2220sq.m according to the plans provided, which results in a 32% 
increase in hardstanding. The hardstanding itself is not considered to be harmful to openness, 
however it would result in an encroachment into land which currently has grass pitches which 
are compatible with the Green Belt status of the site. Further the use of the land for car 
parking especially during peak times is considered to be harmful to openness, the harm 
increasing and decreasing based on the level of use. Therefore in order to justify the increase 
in hardstanding proposed a case for Very Special Circumstances must be demonstrated.   

The proposed 3G pitch is considered to be an acceptable use in this location, where an 
existing rugby pitch is located. The existing pitch to be replaced is not currently usable, due to 
previous poor management of the engineering of the pitch. The top soil is not a suitable 
playing surface as it contains large pieces of debris which are not safe for players. 

There is a current need within Macclesfield for a new floodlit 3G pitch which is set out in the 
Council’s Playing Pitch Strategy. The provision of such a facility locally which would be open 
to the public to use as a community would meet this  requirement. 

The proposal includes the redevelopment of the pavilion. The existing pavilion is located to 
the south of the main playing pitch with the proposed pavilion to the west of the main playing 
pitch which is to be rotated. 

Within the Green Belt replacement buildings are an acceptable form of development, 
providing they are in the same use and are not materially larger than the building to be 
replaced. 

In this case the floor area of existing pavilion is 728.2sq.m and the proposed pavilion 
measures 1159.9sq.m. The increase in floor area proposed is 59%. Therefore the proposed 
building is considered to be materially larger than the building it is proposed to replace. Whilst 



this is a building for the purposes of outdoor sport and recreation, the proposed building 
would have an impact on the openness of the Green Belt, therefore would not comply with the 
requirements of paragraph 89 of the NPPF or policy PG3 of the CELPS. Therefore in order to 
justify the increase in size proposed a case for very special circumstances must be 
demonstrated.  

The proposals also include a housing proposal in order to generate the income required to 
redevelop the rugby club and to make it more sustainable and self sufficient in the longer 
term. Throughout the planning application process, a viability exercise has been carried out 
which has demonstrated that in order for the land value to be high enough to enable the 
proposed redevelopment the level of housing proposed is required. However it is not viable 
for the housing element to be completely policy compliant if the full suite of rugby facilities 
proposed is to be provided. 

Whilst the housing scheme is not fully policy compliant it does provide 8 affordable units, a full 
education contribution, a contribution to road improvements on the local highway network, a 
contribution to air quality improvement measures and a contribution towards public open 
space, as this is not provided on site. 

Development for market housing within the Green Belt constitutes inappropriate form of 
development as it is not listed as an exception in paragraphs 89 of 90 of the NPPF nor in 
policy PG3 of the CELPS. Therefore a site making provision for 76 dwellings can only be 
justified in very special circumstances, to outweigh the harm and any other harm. Although 
not isolated due to development further to the east of the site, the harm associated with a 
level of development such as this is significant. It would see a significant level of 
encroachment in an area which is free from development at the current time. 

The Case for Very Special Circumstances

A detailed case for very special circumstances has been put forward as part of the proposals 
which include the enabling development report to justify the level of development proposed. 
The planning statement argues that there would not be a significant loss in openness as a 
result of the proposed development. However this point is not agreed due to the scale of 
development proposed. 

The planning statement sets out the case for very special circumstances which includes the 
following:

- Upgrade of the rugby club
The upgrading of the rugby facilities to provide a community facility encouraging people to 
access the Green Belt for sport and recreational facilities.

Financial viability information has been provided in support of the application. This 
demonstrates that without the sale of the land for residential development, the Club would not 
be able to finance the improved facilities and without a more sustainably based income, the 
future of the Club or at the very least the maintenance of the existing substantial facilities will 
remain in doubt. The functional and financial justification for the proposals and future 
business plan are set out in detail in the further reports supporting the application. Those 
points are not expanded upon in detail here as they rely on confidential financial information, 
however in summary the improvements proposed are commensurate with the level of 
development proposed.



The upgrade of the rugby club facilities enhance the beneficial use of the Green Belt for 
(amongst other things), providing opportunities for outdoor sport and recreation and improving 
damaged land. In accordance with paragraph 81 of the NPPF.

The proposals within this application are driven by a desire in need to improve and provide 
opportunities for outdoor sport and recreation not only for the rugby club but for the wider 
community on a long term and sustainable basis. These facilities cannot be provided in the 
absence of the realisation of the development value that the residential development brings 
but the driving force and primary objective is the sport and recreation provision in accordance 
with paragraph 81 of the NPPF.

In addition, the proposals have been brought forward to address a very unfortunate situation 
with the usability of the pitches intended to be provided in accordance with planning 
permission 99/0072P. That application allowed the importation of waste materials to facilitate 
the levelling of land and creation of additional pitches. Unfortunately the substandard 
specification of the fill operation has left an area that is largely unusable because of the 
migration of sub-material to the surface and now requires significant remediation. This area 
can rightly be described as damaged land, which requires improvement if it is to be an asset 
to the Club and the proposals are the only means by which that work can be financed. The 
improvement of the land would be in accordance with paragraph 81.

- Accommodating new residential development
Releasing land at the Rugby Club not only meets the Council’s housing needs but at the 
same time provides an additional community benefit. This in itself becomes a very special 
circumstance.

- Very special circumstances – five year housing land supply
At the time of submission, the CELPS was not adopted. At that point the Council could not 
demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply. The planning statement places weight on the lack 
of 5 year housing land supply, further it goes on to discuss the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. However the Council can now demonstrate a 5 year housing land 
supply, and due to the location of the development, even if the Council could not demonstrate 
a 5 year housing land supply and the Local Plan was not adopted, the presumption in favour 
of sustainable development would not apply. 

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF states that:  where the development plan is absent, silent or 
relevant policies are out‑of‑date, granting permission unless:–– any adverse impacts of doing 
so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in this Framework taken as a whole; or–– specific policies in this Framework indicate 
development should be restricted.9 Footnote includes – ‘For example, those policies relating 
to sites protected under the Birds and Habitats Directives (see paragraph 119) and/or 
designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest; land designated as Green Belt…’

Therefore due to the location within the Green Belt the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development would not apply in this case. 

As set out above the applicants case for very special circumstances comprises 3 elements. 

The upgrade of facilities for the rugby club; accommodating new housing development and 
the contribution to the Council’s 5 year housing land supply.



The NPPF states the following at paragraphs 87 and 88 in relation to very special 
circumstances:

87. As with previous Green Belt policy, inappropriate development is, by definition, 
harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special 
circumstances.

88. When considering any planning application, local planning authorities should 
ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt. ‘Very special 
circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of 
inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other considerations.

Therefore in this case, it is for the Local Planning Authority to determine whether or not the 
case put forward above amounts to the very special circumstances required to outweigh the 
harm by reason of inappropriateness and any other harm. 

The upgrade of the rugby club facilities:

On visiting the rugby club and from the information provided it is clear that the existing 
pavilion is in a tired condition. There is clearly a lot of support for the redevelopment of the 
club from members which has been demonstrated through representations received. It is 
clear that the changing facilities at the club were basic. The function and bar areas and 
spectator areas appeared to be satisfactory, although not fully accessible. The club building 
can currently only accommodate men’s changing facilities which are existing and it is an 
aspiration of the club to host women’s rugby for which a separate changing facility would be 
required. Further, female referees are unable to have a separate changing area currently. The 
shower facilities are basic, probably original to the building. It is therefore clear why it is an 
aspiration of the club to enhance the facilities, and the statements provided suggest that the 
most economical way to enhance the facilities would be through the demolition and rebuilding 
of a new bespoke building rather than upgrading and building ad- hoc additions to the 
building. This would make the building more economical and desirable. The changing facilities 
would be modern as would the function spaces. It is considered by the club that better 
function spaces will help maintain the club into the future by providing a revenue stream. 

The rebuilding of the clubhouse would also include repositioning which would be better placed 
at an east/west juxtaposition rather than north/south. An existing problem expressed by the 
club, is that during the playing season, often the main pitch is unusable due to it being frozen. 

The clubhouse building dates back to the 1980s, a relatively short lifespan for a building. It is 
unfortunate that when the club house building was originally designed and built, the 
orientation of the building in relation to the sun was not considered. 

The proposals also include the 3G sports pitch for which there is a need identified in the 
Cheshire East Playing Pitch Strategy for Macclesfield. This provision is welcomed. The 
upgrading of the rugby club is considered to be desired by many members of the club. There 
is no doubt that the management of the club has been to its detriment in the past which is the 
case for the pitch to the west of the site where the 3G pitch would be placed. 

It is clear that the proposals would improve the existing situation significantly to be a very high 
standard facility, and provide the potential for women’s rugby which is an aspiration of the 
RFU as set out in their representation. It would also provide the club with a more stable 



revenue stream, and would provide a better facility for the numerous clubs and groups who 
use the site on a regular basis enjoying participation in outdoor sport.

Information provided with the application in relation to the club’s accounts do demonstrate 
that the club’s maintenance costs along with all overheads outweigh profits, and it is running 
at a loss. The club have stated that this is only set to deteriorate further in the future, and the 
club relies on one off donations to survive, which are never guaranteed. Improved facilities 
could make the club more sustainable and encourage greater participation, especially through 
the 3G pitch, function facilities and making the club more attractive to increase subscriptions. 

The club is an important asset to Macclesfield which has been demonstrated through the 
information provided, however the question remains as to whether the site requires the full 
transformation funding immediately, and whether this could not be done in a more holistic way 
over time. The view of the applicant is that this is the only option. However does this justify 
the cost to the Green Belt which is significant. The case for the new facilities is a benefit to 
which moderate weight is attached. 

The release of land to accommodate housing and 5 year housing land supply:

The site would make provision for 76 dwellings. Housing does provide numerous benefits, 
especially with the provision of some affordable housing. The proposal is within a sustainable 
location on the edge of a large town. The housing development would also provide 
contributions which without the proposed development would not be forthcoming, albeit some 
being mitigation. However, the Council is of the view that it can currently demonstrate a 5 
year housing land supply and whilst this proposal would go some way to helping to maintain 
this position it is not considered to be as beneficial at the current time to outweigh the harm. 
Housing constitutes an inappropriate form of development and on this scale the benefits of 
this are something to which moderate weight is attached. 

Green Belt Conclusions

The harm to the Green Belt as a result of the proposals is significant, particularly the housing 
element. The Green Belt provides a series of important purposes as set out in paragraph 80 
of the NPPF. The larger clubhouse would have a greater impact on openness than the 
building it replaces, the increased level of hardstanding across the site would see an 
encroachment albeit within the curtilage of the site, and the housing element would see a 
significant amount of built development which is an inappropriate form of development. 

The proposals however would see a vast improvement to an important and well used 
community facility in Macclesfield Rugby Club which provides access to outdoor sport for all 
ages, and makes a huge contribution to the health and wellbeing of users, a local and 
national aspiration, through the promotion of, and participation in sport, an ethos enshrined in 
Green Belt policy by providing access to such facilities. 

Due to the scheme constituting inappropriate development, the proposals must be beneficial 
enough to outweigh the harm by inappropriateness and any other harm through the presence 
of very special circumstances. The circumstances put forward are beneficial, especially the 
redevelopment of the rugby club, however, it is not considered that these outweigh the harm 
arising by reason of inappropriateness or the other harm identified which is the impact on 
openness. Other harm which would have arisen as a result of the scheme is largely 
considered to be adequately mitigated through measures set out in report which have been 



viability tested and through the amendments sought during the course of the application 
process. However further harm  is identified through the proposal not being fully policy 
compliant with regard to design due to matters that have not been resolved through 
amendments, further harm has also been identified through the amenity of future residents 
being compromised by virtue of overlooking, with particular reference to plots 63, 64 and 65 of 
the proposed development.   

Local Plan Update

On 27 July 2017, the Council adopted the Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy.  This followed 
an extensive public examination led by an independent and senior Planning Inspector.

The Inspector’s Report on the Local Plan was published on 20 June 2017 and signalled the 
Inspector’s agreement to the Plans policies and proposals.  The Local Plan Inspector 
confirmed that, on adoption, the Council was able to demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing 
land. In his Report he concludes:

“I am satisfied that CEC has undertaken a robust, comprehensive and proportionate 
assessment of the delivery of its housing land supply, which confirms a future 5-year 
supply of around 5.3 years”

The Inspector’s conclusion that the Council had a 5 year supply of deliverable housing land 
was based on the housing land supply position as at 31 March 2016. 

Following the adoption of the Local Plan Strategy, the Council released its annual Housing 
Monitoring Update, in August 2017. It sets out the housing land supply as at 31 March 2017 
and identified a deliverable housing land supply of 5.45 years.

On 8 November 2017, an appeal against the decision of the Council to refuse outline planning 
permission for up to 400 homes at White Moss Quarry, Alsager (WMQ) was dismissed due to 
the scheme’s conflict with the Local Plan settlement hierarchy and its spatial distribution of 
development. 

However, in his decision letter, the WMQ Inspector did not come to a clear conclusion 
whether Cheshire East had a five year supply of deliverable housing land. His view was that it 
was either slightly above or slightly below the required 5 years (4.96 to 5.07 years) . In this 
context, the Inspector engaged the ‘tilted balance’ set out in the 4th Bullet point of paragraph 
14 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). This introduces a presumption that 
planning permission is granting permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in 
the NPPF taken as a whole. 

On 4 January 2018, an appeal against the non-determination of an outline planning 
permission for up to 100 homes at Park Road, Willaston was dismissed due to conflict with 
Local Plan policies that sought to protect designated Green Gap, open countryside and rural 
character. The Inspector also took the view that the housing land supply was either marginally 
above or below the required 5 years (4.93 to 5.01 years). On this basis, he adopted a 



‘precautionary approach’ and assumed a worst case position in similarly engaging the ‘tilted 
balance’ under paragraph 14 of the Framework. 

The Council is continuing to update its evidence regarding housing land supply to ensure that 
decisions are taken in the light of the most robust evidence available and taking account of 
recent case law.  The Council believes it can demonstrate a five year supply and will 
accordingly be presenting further updated evidence at the forthcoming Stapeley Inquiry

For the purpose of determining current planning applications it is therefore the Council’s 
position that there is a five year supply of deliverable housing land.

Sustainability

Sustainability is the golden thread running through the National Planning Policy Framework, 
and proposals for sustainable development should be approved without delay. There are 
three strands to sustainability, social, economic and environmental.

SOCIAL SUSTAINABILITY

Affordable Housing and Housing Mix 

The Cheshire East Local Plan (CELP) and the Councils Interim Planning Statement: 
Affordable Housing (IPS) states in Settlements with a population of 3,000 or more that we will 
negotiate for the provision of an appropriate element of the total dwelling provision to be for 
affordable housing on all unidentified ‘windfall’ sites of 15 dwellings or more or larger than 0.4 
hectares in size. The desired target percentage for affordable housing for all allocated sites 
will be a minimum of 30%, in accordance with the recommendations of the Strategic Housing 
Market Assessment carried out in 2013. This percentage relates to the provision of both 
social rented and/or intermediate housing, as appropriate. Normally the Council would expect 
a ratio of 65/35 between social rented and intermediate housing.

This is a proposed development of 76 dwellings therefore in order to meet the Council’s 
Policy on Affordable Housing there is a requirement for 23 dwellings to be provided as 
affordable dwellings.

The SHMA 2013 shows the majority of the demand in Macclesfield per year up to and 
including 2018 is for 103x 2 bedroom and 116x 3 bedroom dwellings. The SHMA also shows 
a need for 80x 1 bedroom Older Persons. These Older Persons dwellings can be via Flats, 
Cottage Style Flats and Bungalows.

The SHMA shows an oversupply of 1 and 4 bedroom General Needs dwellings and 2 
bedroom Older Persons.

The current number of those on the Cheshire Homechoice waiting list with Macclesfield as 
their first choice is 1019. This can be broken down to 525x 1 bedroom, 336x 2 bedroom, 136x 
3 bedroom and 22x 4 bedroom dwellings. On this site a mix of 1, 2, 3 and 4 bedroom General 
Need’s dwellings with a provision of 1 bedroom Older Person dwellings would be acceptable. 

15 units should be provided as Affordable/Social Rent and 8 units as Intermediate tenure.

The applicant has supplied a Viability Study that has been verified. This study shows the 
development can only afford to  provide 8 Affordable dwellings. These 8 on site have been 



shown to be split to 5 Rented and 3 Intermediate Tenure, which is policy compliant. However 
the location on site is in a corner of the development and are clustered together but should  
be pepper-potted across the site. Therefore the housing officer objects on this basis.

With regard to the housing mix proposed, this includes 3 x 5 bed units, 30 x 4 bed units, 16 x 
3 bed units, 14 x 2 bed units and 10 x 1 bed units. The 8 affordable units are 1 bed units 
comprising bungalows and apartments. 

It is considered that the proposed mix is sufficient across the site. 

Due to the small number of affordable units, it is more difficult to genuinely pepper-pot these 
across the site, however they meet the required mix based on a robust viability exercise. It is 
not considered that the positioning of the units in this case would alone warrant a reason for 
refusal of the application. 

Education

The development of 76 dwellings is expected to generate:

 13 primary children (76 x 0.19) – 1 SEN child
 11 secondary children (76 x 0.15)
 1 SEN children (76 x 0.51 x 0.023%)

The development is expected to impact on secondary school places in the immediate locality. 
Contributions which have been negotiated on other developments are factored into the 
forecasts both in terms of the increased pupil numbers and the increased capacity at schools 
in the area as a result of agreed financial contributions. The analysis undertaken has 
identified that a shortfall of secondary school places still remains.  

Special Education provision within Cheshire East Council currently has a shortage of places 
available with at present over 47% of pupils educated outside of the Borough.  The Service 
acknowledges that this is an existing concern, however the 1 child expected from the Priory 
Park application will exacerbate the shortfall.  The 1 SEN children who is thought to be of 
mainstream education age, has been removed from the calculations above to avoid double 
counting.

To alleviate forecast pressures, the following contributions would be required:

11 x £17,959 x 0.91 = £179,770.00 (secondary)
1 x £50,000 x 0.91 = £45,500.00 (SEN)
Total education contribution: £225,270.00

Without a secured contribution of £225,270.00, Children’s Services raise an objection to this 
application. This is on the grounds that the proposed development would have a detrimental 
impact upon local education provision as a direct cause from the development.  Without the 
mitigation, 11 secondary children and 1 SEN child would not have a school place in 
Macclesfield.  The objection would be withdrawn if the financial mitigation measure is agreed.

Public Open Space and Recreation



The applicant has provided details of housing types and numbers, 66 of which are 2 bed+ 
family dwellings. In line with the Policy SE6 of the CEC Local Plan, there is a public open 
space requirement of 65m2 per family dwelling totalling 4290m2 of POS. Play provision 
should be provided to support the new community. A LEAP play area would be required in 
line with Fields in Trust Guidance. There is no provision for play on the proposed master plan. 
Therefore a commuted sum of £50,000 will be required for off site provision of play and 
amenity improvements to Lanark Walk open space and Juniper Rise play area.

The lack of buffer zones between the residential and sports club facilities to the southern 
portion of the site raises concerns about the quality of the development for the new 
community due to the potential for conflict between themselves and the users of the sports 
facilities. 

There is a requirement for Recreation and Outdoor Sport (ROS) and indoor sports facilities in 
line with policy SC1 and SC2 CEC Local Plan.

The Playing Pitch Strategy identifies a need for a 3G artificial pitch in Macclesfield. The 
master plan shows there will be an increase to the overall pitch quality including a 3G artificial 
pitch. The club also plans a new pavilion. This is in line with the PPS Action Plan to support 
the Rugby Club with its aspirations for site development and in its aspirations to develop a 
World Rugby compliant 3G pitch.

The upgrades and additions to the outdoor sports facilities would add to the network of 
affordable and sustainable facilities. Therefore, the new and improved provision is an 
acceptable level of ROS contribution for this development.

Indoor Sport 
The application is considered to be in line with both Policy SC1 - Leisure & Recreation and 
Policy SC2 – Indoor & Outdoor Sports Facilities of the new Local Plan. In addition, unlike the 
Playing Pitch Strategy, whilst not specifically referenced as an action within the recently 
adopted “Indoor Built Facility Strategy” the application detail  as outlined in the Design & 
Access Statement (December 2016)  supports its Vision and Objectives (Pages 27 -35) – 

Vision – 
“To create a network of high quality, accessible, affordable and sustainable sport and 
leisure facilities, which offer inclusive services for all; enabling the inactive to become 
active and more residents to fulfil their potential by participating in sport and physical 
activity, thus improving their long-term health and well-being”  

Objectives -
1  Maximise the potential sports facility development opportunities created through 
Cheshire East’s housing and population growth

5. Enhance the quality of the existing sports facility infrastructure and improve its 
longer term financial sustainability by ensuring sufficient capital funds are available for 
improvement and upkeep.”

The re-provision of existing and development of new  sports facilities is also very much in line 
with ensuring that the “sports hub” proposal is sustainable for the longer term, something 
which the Council  would be keen to ensure happens. The need for longer term sustainability 



is critical to larger sports organisation such as Macclesfield Rugby Club which is the principal 
rugby football union club for Macclesfield and the surrounding area. The club is growing and 
has a wide range of teams from juniors right through to the First XI which plays at a high level 
most recently in National League One (2016/17), and with the recent addition of a ladies 
team.

In terms of the facilities mix the following is noted –

• The retention of the current 3G provision (even without floodlights) is to be welcomed 
as it will enable a wider sporting use including support for hockey, netball and football. This 
will further enhance the sustainable nature of the sports hub

• From a review of its specification the proposed new 3G, in addition to supporting 
competitive rugby, can also be used for football which will again improve the overall financial 
sustainability of the club and maximise the use of the investment

• The new clubhouse with its improved accessibility, community room and supporting 
facilities will further enhance flexibility of use particularly for group events for which the club 
has a longstanding track record

• Finally the upgrade of the facilities will further enhance the wider sporting corridor 
within this area of Macclesfield, with the synergies already available from Macclesfield Leisure 
Centre and the Fallibroome Academy and in due course the new facilities to be provided by 
the Kings School development.

Whilst under the new policies there would normally be a requirement for a contribution  from 
76 dwellings towards indoor sport & recreation, given the investment in new sport and 
recreation as part of the application it is considered that this should be waived.

Sport England has raised no objections to the proposals following the submission of further 
information.  

Social Sustainability Conclusion
The proposals for the residential development will make an affordable housing contribution of 
the correct tenure which would be secured through a Section 106 agreement. Albeit this is not 
at the expected policy compliant levels.  The proposals will make huge enhancements to a 
sports club which is a social facility providing outdoor sport and recreation opportunities for 
many, contributing to the health and wellbeing of the local community, and those travelling 
from further afield to use the facilities. 

The proposed development will make a full education contribution and makes an off site 
contribution for POS and ROS and would enhance the sporting corridor therefore it is 
considered that the proposal makes a positive contribution to the health and wellbeing of the 
future residents of the dwellings and the wider area. 

Overall the development is considered to be socially sustainable. 

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY

Highways



The access to the site would be provided via the existing access point, this is to be improved 
up to adoptable standard with a 6.3m wide access, two 2.0m footways and a large radius on 
entry. 

The access is from Priory Lane that connects with Alderley Road, Macclesfield Road to the 
south and Broken Cross to the north. Priory Road is an important local connector road and 
provides access to residential properties and also serves as access to local schools.

Assessment of Impact
The traffic impact of the proposed development will occur at different times on the road 
network, the peak demand of the rugby club will be either in the evenings or at the weekend. 
The residential element will impact in the traditional peak hours, the morning peak usually 
08.00-09.00 and 17.00- 18.00. Given the existing levels of traffic flow on the local road 
network, it is clear that the main impact is in the morning peak hours where the traffic 
generation will coincide with the local school traffic and this is borne out by the congestion 
that occurs at the key road junctions close to the site.

The applicant has considered the impact at 2018 and in 2023 and traffic growth has been 
included in the assessment. An important consideration is the approval of the Kings School at 
Derby Fields as the application will add further traffic to the road network in similar locations 
to this development proposal. The applicant has considered the implications of this 
development in the traffic assessment submitted.

The trip generation associated with the 76 residential dwellings is 57 two way trips in the 
morning peak hour and there are very little or no existing trips made to the rugby club 
between 8am and 9am. However, as part of the redevelopment proposals it has been 
indicated that 20 trips would be made in the morning peak to attend the small conference at 
the RUFC clubhouse. The peak demand for the rugby club is on a Saturday in the afternoon 
where it is expected that 56 trips would be generated onto the road network. Given that the 
existing traffic flows on Priory Lane are considerably lower on the weekend than the weekday 
morning peak hours the additional traffic can be accommodated. The main impact of this 
development proposal is the additional flow that will be generated by the residential scheme 
in the morning peak hours, the evening weekday peak and weekend peak do not have the 
same congestion problems as the weekday morning peak.

A number of junction assessments have been undertaken to assess capacity of the junctions 
on the local road network. 
Priory Park Access/ Priory Lane – Site Access
Alderley Road/Macclesfield Road/ Prestbury Road
Priory Lane/Churchway – mini roundabout.

The junction capacity assessments for both the access and the mini roundabout junction 
indicate these will operate with significant spare capacity, this would be expected given 
current traffic flow demand. It is the staggered junction at Alderley Road/Macclesfield 
Road/Prestbury Road that has excessive queues and congestion in the AM peak hour.

As the Kings School relocation to Derby Fields has been approved, it is necessary to assess 
the Alderley Road/Macclesfield Road/Prestbury Road junction with the agreed junction 
improvements in place and this was the double mini roundabout scheme. The applicant has 



assessed this scheme with the development traffic added and the results indicate that the 
junction operates at capacity in AM peak 2018 but within capacity for all other time periods. 
The 2023 scenario has slightly longer queues in the AM period and again the other time 
periods operate satisfactorily.

The applicant has concluded that the additional development proposed at the rugby club 
including the residential development would not result in a material severe impact to the local 
highway network. Whilst this conclusion can be accepted for the weekday evening peak hours 
and at weekends, there is a significant congestion problem in the AM period that will only be 
extended by this development proposal.

Internally, the residential element of the scheme is located at the front of the site and the main 
spine road extends into main car parking area for the rugby club. The number of parking 
spaces currently serving the site is 260 and the proposals would increase this to 284 spaces. 
The site is connected to the footway network and there are existing footways on both sides of 
Priory Road. There are existing bus services that route along Priory Road and the bus stops 
are located only a short distance away from the main site access. 

Highways Summary and Conclusions
The Macclesfield RUFC has been located on the site for a number of years and also has an 
existing access from Priory Lane. It is proposed to increase the facilities available at the rugby 
club and these additional uses will increase the trip generation mainly in the off peak period 
although there will be some increases in the morning peak. The residential element of the 
scheme is new and will generate additional traffic in the morning and evening peaks and 
although the generation from 76 units will be relatively modest it will add to the existing traffic 
flow and congestion that occurs at the junctions that are close to the site.

It is clear from the capacity tests undertaken at staggered junction at Alderley 
Road/Macclesfield Road/ Prestbury Road that there is significant queuing in 2018 with and 
without the development traffic added. Whilst congestion occurs in the AM and PM periods, it 
is the AM peak that is of concern as this the period where the longest queues are formed. 
Although the resultant increase in queue length is small it does cumulatively add to the 
congestion being experienced during the busy morning period. 

The new Kings School to be located at Derby Fields will provide an improvement to the 
Alderley Road/Macclesfield Road/Prestbury Road junction, the double mini roundabout 
scheme does reduce queue lengths significantly although in the AM period this scheme does 
still operate at capacity.

Therefore, this scheme does rely on the road improvement scheme at Alderley 
Road/Macclesfield Road/ Prestbury Road staggered junction coming forward to provide the 
additional capacity on the local road network. The double mini roundabout scheme approved 
had a number of pedestrian crossings provided although the scheme did not include any 
pedestrian facilities on the western side of the junction on Alderley Road. As pedestrian 
access will be required for people wanting to walk to this site which is located on the western 
side of the junction, a contribution to provide additional footway and crossing facilities at the 
double mini roundabout junction is required.



In these circumstances the application is considered acceptable subject to a financial S106 
contribution of £50,000 to provide additional pedestrian facilities at the junction of Alderley 
Road/Macclesfield Road/ Prestbury Road and conditions.

Public Rights of Way/Access

The proposals do not affect a public right of way. The site has footpath links through to 
Fallibroome School currently which would be maintained. For the residential element of the 
scheme there is a footway along Priory Lane, with footways to local shops and services such 
as schools. There is a bus stop outside of the site which is served by a footpath. It is 
considered therefore that the site is well connected for pedestrians. 

Urban Design

Following discussions with the applicant the original scheme has been amended. The 
elevational treatment of Rugby Club pavilion has been amended, the green wall will make it 
appear lower from views across the countryside and the timber panelling breaks up the 
massing, the roof appears to have a lower pitch and has a more modern styling.

With regards to the housing layout, following discussions this has been amended and through 
conditions high quality boundary treatments where boundaries are visible from the road/street 
they should be secured to be high quality (brick) to future proof the quality of development, 
especially on the public face.- such as plots 42,63,66,68,73 & 76. Through the amendments a 
detached garage to the entrance/termination point has been lost which is a benefit to the 
scheme.

Front of plot, in curtilage parking would benefit from elements of soft landscaping to avoid 
cars being dominant in the streetscape which can be secured through a landscaping scheme 
along with the provision of curtilage trees and floorscape surface treatment to streets. 

As a number of the plots are visible across the countryside, the rear elevation is as important 
as the front. Of the information on types submitted, the rear elevations appear to have less 
character and detailing in comparison with the front. (plots 39-62 in particular but not 
excluding 20-38)

In terms of the design of the site it is important that the two halves of the site read as one in 
terms of quality of design, materials and detailing. The apartment block and bungalows are 
noticeably different in quality of detail to the rest of the development, these are the affordable 
units so are not fully tenure blind. 

Whilst the Design Guide encourages bespoke design solutions that take reference to the 
immediate high quality housing stock, it is observed that a standard type is being used and 
whilst the types are being tweaked to reflect local materiality, the styling has not.

A more reserved approach to the mock Tudor detailing is desirable (Banbury 4) across the 
site.

The current house types do not show all corner plots to be dual aspect which is required in 
order for the proposed design of the development to be acceptable. As this is a full 
application, these matters must be addressed at this stage. Should further amendments be 
received to address these points this will be reported to members by way of an update. 



However as it stands the application would be refused on design grounds, the proposal would 
be contrary to the principles as set out in the Cheshire East Design Guide and policy SE1 of 
the CELPS which requires new developments to be of a high design quality creating a sense 
of place, with particular reference to the  reasons mentioned above. 

Landscape Impact

The landscape officer has been involved in the amendments sought and it is considered that 
following amendments to the scheme the proposals will not have a detrimental landscape 
impact. The proposed development will introduce enhanced landscaping mitigation. Various 
amendments have been made, particularly to the buffer between the rugby pitches and the 
proposed housing. Due to the amendments, it is considered that the social proximity of the 
dwellings to the pitches is acceptable. 

The landscape officer has recommended a series of conditions, to ensure that the proposed 
landscaping detail is acceptable including site levels, which are undulating at the front of the 
site. 

Trees

Following initial comments the proposals have been amended in relation to trees, due to the 
proposed removal of TPO trees at the site, which meant that the arboricultural officer could 
not support the scheme. 

However the latest position following the most recent consultation will be provided to 
members by way of an update. 

Ecology

Great Crested Newts 
A small population of this species is known to occur at a pond within 250m of the proposed 
development.  The application site however offers limited habitat for great crested newts and 
the proposed development would not result in the fragmentation or isolation of great crested 
newt habitat.

 The potential impacts of the proposed development are limited to the low risk of any newts 
that venture onto the site being killed or injured during the construction process.  In order to 
address this risk the applicant’s ecological consultant has recommended a suite of 
‘reasonable avoidance measures’ 

It is advised that provided these measures are implemented the proposed development would 
be highly unlikely to result in a breach of the Habitat Regulations. Consequently, it is not 
necessary for the Council to have regard to the Habitat Regulations during the determination 
of this application. 

In order to deliver an enhancement for this species and biodiversity in general as required by 
the NPPF it is advised that the submitted plan be amended to include the provision of a 
wildlife pond as recommended by the submitted survey report. To be secured by condition. 

Bats



Evidence of what appears to be a minor bat roost was recorded in the club house proposed 
for demolition.  Following consultation comments from the ecologist, a further dusk and dawn 
bat survey was carried out in June 2017 and no bats were found to be roosting. Therefore in 
2016 and 2017 no bats were found to be present at the site. 

A number of trees were identified by the submitted habitat survey as having potential to 
support roosting bats.  It is not clear whether these trees would be retained as part of the 
proposed development. It is advised that the further bat survey should include any trees 
identified as having potential to support roosting bats that would be affected by the proposed 
development. An update in relation to this matter will be provided to members by way of an 
update prior to the committee meeting. 

Badgers
No confirmed evidence of badger activity was recorded during the updated badger survey.  It 
is therefore advised that the proposed development is not likely to have an adverse impact 
upon this species.  However as the status of badgers on a site can change it is recommended 
that an updated badger survey be undertaken if development is has not commenced by May 
2018. 

Stream
There is a watercourse along the south eastern boundary of the site. Therefore a condition 
must be placed on any consent ensuring that an 8m buffer zone is fenced off for the duration 
of the construction period.  

Nesting Birds and Breeding Birds
Provision should be made for the safeguarding of nesting birds and breeding birds in the 
event of an approval. 

Himalayan Balsam and Japanese Knotweed
These two non-native invasive plant species are present on site therefore a method statement 
for the control of the species is required which would be secured by condition. 

Following comments from the Council’s ecologist there are no objections on ecology grounds 
to the proposed development subject to mitigation. 

Amenity

In order for the proposals to be acceptable, it is important that they do not have a detrimental 
impact on the amenities of existing residents and that the development is not located within 
an area which would harm the amenities of future residents.  The proposals should not cause 
undue harm by overlooking, loss of light or loss of privacy to future or existing residents. The 
nature of the proposed uses  could cause a conflict between users of the rugby club facilities 
and future occupiers. 

Therefore amendments have been made in order to ensure that the proposals do not have a 
detrimental impact on each other or on existing residents nearby. Ball stop fencing is 
proposed which is 6m in height, and floodlighting is proposed on the 3G pitch, therefore would 
be a significant distance from the proposed dwellings. 



Noise

The proposal is for the demolition of the existing clubhouse and erection of a new clubhouse 
and 76 dwellings. The applicant has submitted a Noise Impact Assessment Report produced 
by REC Ltd - Ref AC100077-1R5, dated 19th December 2016 in support of the application. 

The report recommends noise mitigation measures designed to ensure that occupants of the 
proposed properties are not adversely affected by traffic noise, noise from Fallibroome 
School, sports pitch noise and entertainment noise from the Clubhouse.  The conclusions of 
the report and methodology used are acceptable. 

Air Quality
Policy SE12 of the emerging Local Plan states that the Council will seek to ensure all 
development is located and designed so as not to result in a harmful or cumulative impact 
upon air quality.  This is in accordance with paragraph 124 of the NPPF and the 
Government’s Air Quality Strategy.

When assessing the impact of a development on Local Air Quality, this office has regard to 
(amongst other things) the Council’s Air Quality Strategy, the Air Quality Action Plan, Local 
Monitoring Data and the EPUK Guidance “Land Use Planning & Development Control:  
Planning for Air Quality May 2015)

The applicant has submitted an air quality impact assessment report in support of the 
application produced by Bureau Veritas dated June 2016, reference 6352278. The report 
considers whether the development will cause an increased exposure to airborne pollutants, 
particularly as a result of additional traffic and changes to traffic flows. A number of modelled 
scenarios have been considered within the assessment.  These were:

• 2015 Base Case (2015 BC) – Without development base flows for the base year 
(2015)
• 2018 Base Case (2018 BC) – Without development base flows for the proposed 
earliest year of completion (2018)
• 2018 Development Case (2018 BC) – With development flows for the proposed 
earliest year of completion (2018)
• 2018 Cumulative Case (2018 CC) – With development flows for the proposed earliest 
year of completion (2018) and the addition of proposed development of nearby King’s School

The assessment uses the DMRB (Design Manual for Roads and Bridges) screening tool to 
model NO2 and PM10 impacts from additional road traffic associated with this development.  
An air quality damage cost calculation has also been undertaken. The damage costs 
associated with emissions arising from vehicle movements from the development for 5 years 
have been calculated as £8,312 for NOX and £1,358 for PM10 per year. The cost of 
mitigation to be implemented to offset the impact of emissions should reflect this value.

The diffusion tube data used in the modelling was taken from 2015. During the preparation of 
the 2016 Annual Status Report, anomalies were spotted with respect to the 2015 monthly 
diffusion tube data.  As a result, a full audit of all the diffusion tube data for 2013, 2014 and 
2015 has been undertaken. 



The report concludes that the air quality impacts as a result of the construction, operational 
and cumulative effects of the development would not be significant. It should be noted that the 
model has been verified against inaccurate data for 2015 mean NO2 diffusion tube 
concentrations due to the authors using un-adjusted data from 2015.  However the results 
they have used are higher than the final adjusted values and as such can be considered a 
worst case assessment.

The proposed development is considered significant by this office in that it is highly likely to 
change traffic patterns and congestion in the area.

Whilst the report states that the impact of the development will not be significant, there is a 
need for the Local Planning Authority to consider the cumulative impact of a large number of 
developments in a particular area.  In particular, the impact of transport related emissions on 
Local Air Quality

Air Quality Monitoring undertaken at Broken Cross and Park Lane, Macclesfield indicates that 
the annual mean nitrogen dioxide limit value was exceeded for the years 2014 and 2015, with 
further exceedances in 2014 for Chester Road and Hibel Road.  The Council is currently 
undertaking a verification process in accordance with the Local Air Quality Management 
regime to declare an Air Quality Management Area and the due process involved in that 
decision. 

The report states that the developer should implement an adequate demolition and 
construction dust control plan to protect sensitive receptors from impacts during this stage of 
the proposal. However, this office disagrees with the report’s conclusion that “no mitigation 
measures are considered to be necessary for the operation phase of the development on the 
grounds of air quality.” Poor air quality is detrimental to the health and wellbeing of the public 
and also has a negative impact on the quality of life for sensitive individuals.  The proposals 
set out are considered to be acceptable subject to the financial mitigation set out above and 
conditions. 

Contaminated Land
The Contaminated Land team has no objection to the above application subject to the 
following comments with regard to contaminated land. 

The application is for new residential properties which are a sensitive end use and could be 
affected by any contamination present or brought onto the site.

Geo-environmental site assessments and investigation reports have been submitted with the 
application.  The contaminated land team comment as follows:

-A gas monitoring addendum report was to be produced upon completion of the six rounds of 
ground gas monitoring.  This report should be submitted for approval.
-The preliminary geo-environmental site assessment states that “additional chemical testing 
may be required to confirm that existing site topsoil proposed for re-use is chemically suitable 
for use.”  This recommendation is agreed as only 1 sample of topsoil has been subject to 
chemical analysis.  As such, proposals for the sampling frequency and the chemical analysis 
suite should be submitted.



-The supplementary intrusive investigation (RSK Letter report) concludes that the made 
ground beneath the practice pitch at the western edge of the site is suitable for re-use in the 
proposed residential development, subject to screening to remove unsuitable and large items 
from the material.  Given the variable nature of the made ground, further testing should be 
carried out if the material is to be used within residential gardens.  Again, proposals for the 
sampling frequency and the chemical analysis suite should be submitted.
-Confirmation should be provided as to the fate of the material contained within the large bund 
in the eastern part of the site.  Further information is required regarding the sufficiency of 
testing of this previously imported material, if it is proposed for reuse within residential 
gardens.

It is considered that subject to conditions the proposed development is acceptable in terms of 
contaminated land and gas. 

Residential Amenity
The nearest dwelling to the site is located 26m and 30m from nearest properties on the 
revised layout, it is not considered that the proposed development will result in overlooking of 
the existing property, nor will the existing properties result in overlooking of new dwellings. 
The proposed apartments would back on to the rear of the properties, resulting in overlooking 
of these properties from the rear. There are driveways to the rear of the apartments, however 
the back to back measurements are at 14m and 16m which is contrary to policy DC38 of the 
Macclesfield Borough Local Plan which requires at least 25m for facing habitable room 
windows. Therefore it is considered that plots 63, 64, 65 and the first floors of the apartment 
building would result in direct overlooking to habitable room windows. Therefore this element 
of the layout is unacceptable. 

It is considered that save for the plots above the remainder of the scheme would not result in 
direct overlooking, loss of privacy or loss of light to future occupiers. However due to the 
impact of overlooking on the bungalows the amenity of future occupiers is compromised.

Flood Risk  

The site is located within flood zone 1 however a watercourse does run adjacent to the site. 
The flood risk team has commented on the application and raises no objections subject to 
conditions. In addition to this United Utilities has commented on the application and raised no 
objections to the proposals. No objections have been raised in relation to flooding and 
drainage subject to suitably worded conditions. 

Environmental sustainability conclusions

It is considered that the proposed development is not environmentally sustainable .The 
proposed design of the site is broadly acceptable, particularly the layout, however certain 
house types require alterations in order to comply with policy requiring high quality 
developments and to comply with the requirements of the design guide, therefore does not 
comply with policy SE1 of the CELPS which requires design solutions to achieve a sense of 
place by protecting and enhancing the quality, distinctiveness and character of settlements. 
There would be overlooking to certain plots with particular reference to the southern portion of 
the site, contrary to policy DC38 of the MBLP, there are conditions required in respect 
environmental matters raised above.



ECONOMIC SUSTAINABILITY

Employment
The proposed development will provide employment in the short term during the construction 
phase of the development in the area, and the growth of the rugby club could provide 
additional employment and ensure that the club can be self sufficient into the future. 
 
Economy of the wider area
The addition of 76 units within the town would boost the economy in the local area through 
the increased use of shops and services making them more sustainable, which is especially 
important in Macclesfield Town Centre to be sustainable into the future. Additional population 
can create more demand for local services, increasing the likelihood that they will be retained 
into the future and improvements and investment made. 

Economic sustainability conclusions
The proposals will result in additional employment in the sort term through the construction of 
the site along with an economic boost locally through the increase in population to this area of 
the town. It is considered that the proposals will make efficient use of the site which is part of 
a wider strategic allocation.  

Viability

The consultants have provided the following information in relation to the viability of the club, 
Macclesfield Rugby Club is in a state of disrepair and does not conform to RFU and DDA 
regulations in respect of training and club house facilities. If nothing happens they will not 
have the finances to exist within the next two years.  Through an extensive review period with 
Sport England, the RFU and sport consultants on club design the proposed redevelopment of 
the Club facilities is considered to be a minimum requirement in order to meet Sport England 
and the RFU requirements for the Club to be viable and sustainable going forward. The Club 
is loss making and therefore cannot obtain appropriate funding to undertake the works 
required and is not eligible for grant funding. It currently relies upon the capital from a 
significant donation provided two years ago to stay afloat. 

The only option available is to sell a proportion of land not required for sporting use for 
residential development to raise the funds for the required works. This has resulted in 
Enabling Development principles being applied on the basis that the Club is a valued 
community asset that encourages a positive use of the Green Belt, which the applicant 
believes equates to very special circumstances. The applicant states that has been allowed 
elsewhere through the planning process at Helsby Sports Club, Lymm Rugby Club and Ingol 
Golf Club.  

The applicant submitted an Enabling Development report, produced by Savills, to set out the 
enabling development requirement and impact on affordable housing delivery. The costs of 
the new / upgraded facilities are c. £4m and this is therefore the sum of money required by 
the Club through the sale of part of the site for residential development. The report concludes 
the development can be policy compliant in terms of S106 requirements in all areas except 
affordable housing. This report has been reviewed by the Councils advisors, Keppie Massie 
and WYG, who agree that based on the amount of land receipt required by the club, the 



development is not sufficiently viable to support a policy compliant level of affordable housing.  
Keppie Massie have considered viability with reference to a number of different options.  
Based on the option of the required land value of c.£4m to cover all of the costs for the new / 
upgraded facilities, Keppie Massie have assessed the impact of this on the ability to deliver 
affordable housing on site along with the other Section 106 contributions. Their assessment 
shows that on this basis the development could viably support the provision of 8 affordable 
units and a Section 106 contribution of £375,000. The applicant and Savills agree with this 
assessment and propose to provide this accordingly.

Section 106 agreement

The following planning obligations have been secured through the application process, the 
application has been through a robust viability process, the conclusions of which allow the 
development to make the following contributions on top of the redevelopment of the rugby 
club in full. 

All financial contributions sought have been met, however the level of affordable housing that 
can be provided by the proposed development is significantly lower than that would be usually 
required which would be 30% which would be 25 units. Through the viability process, the cost 
of the rugby club redevelopment has been set out, and the cost that the development could 
afford after making a reasonable profit has been set out. Following the viability exercise, an 
additional affordable unit has been secured taking it to 8 units. 

- 8 of the dwellings proposed would be affordable at a full policy compliant tenure split
- £225,270 towards education – providing 11 x £17,959 x 0.91 = £179,770.00 

(secondary)
1 x £50,000 x 0.91 = £45,500.00 (SEN)

- £50,000 towards public open space
- £50,000 towards highway improvements
- £48,350 towards an air quality improvement package

A total of £373,620.

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations LEVY (CIL) REGULATIONS In order to 
comply with the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010, it is necessary for 
planning applications with legal agreements to consider the issue of whether the requirements 
within the S106 satisfy the following: a) Necessary to make the development acceptable in 
planning terms; a) Directly related to the development; and b) Fair and reasonably related in 
scale and kind to the development. It is considered that the contributions required as part of 
the application are justified meet the Council’s requirement for policy compliance particularly 
given the policy requirements of the allocation. The non-financial requirements ensure that 
the development will be delivered in full. On this basis the S106 the scheme is compliant with 
the CIL Regulations 2010.

Representations
A large number of representations have been received in relation to the application, many in 
support of the application and many in objection to the application. The material planning 
considerations raised have been considered and addressed in the report. Many objections 
relate to highways matters, which have been addressed above, many have stated that the 



redevelopment of the rugby club is not required, and others discuss safety of pedestrians. 
Many of the matters raised can be adequately mitigated. 
In addition to objections raised, many letters of support have been received, welcoming the 
enhancement of the club facilities, and stating that its recent decline in facilities is a trend set 
to continue if action is not taken soon. Several have commented on the number of rugby 
matches cancelled, as a result of the poor positioning of the clubhouse and the drainage of 
the pitches. Clearly from the representations received there is a desire to improve 
Macclesfield Rugby Club which is not disputed.  

CONCLUSIONS

The site is located within the Green Belt where there is a presumption against inappropriate 
development. A viability exercise has demonstrated clearly that the level of investment 
required to redevelop and enhance the club facilities is genuine, and that the receipt for the 
land requires that level of development in order to be viable and to be able to provide 
mitigation. 

The proposal is not fully policy compliant in terms of obligations, namely affordable housing 
which does suffer as a result of the viability of the development. As part of the application 
process, the club has proposed the only option as being the full redevelopment of the site 
rather than it being piecemeal or on an ad hoc basis over time. 

Having carefully considered the application, it is considered that whilst a case for very special 
circumstances has been put forward, which includes the enhancement of the rugby club 
facilities and the provision of housing at the site, these do not outweigh the harm to the Green 
Belt by way of inappropriateness or any other harm which includes the impact on the 
openness of the Green Belt, and the issues with the design and amenity mentioned in the 
officers report. The proposal does not represent a sustainable form of development. 

It is considered therefore that in this case the benefits of the scheme do not outweigh the 
harm. The proposal is contrary to policy PG3 of the Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy, policy 
SE1 of the Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy and policy saved policy DC38 of the 
Macclesfield Borough Local Plan. 

Therefore the application is recommended for refusal.  

RECOMMENDATION
The application is recommended for refusal for the following reasons.

1. The proposal represents an inappropriate form of development within the Green 
Belt. The proposed pavilion building would be materially larger than the building 
it replaces, the proposal will introduce a significant increase in hardstanding 
resulting in encroachment of built development and the housing proposal is an 
inappropriate form of development within the Green Belt by definition. A case for 
very special circumstances has been put forward however this does not 
outweigh the harm to the Green Belt by way of inappropriateness and does not 
outweigh the harm identified in terms of design and amenity. Therefore the 
proposal is contrary to policy PG3 of the Cheshire East Local Plan and saved 
policy GC1 of the Macclesfield Borough Local Plan. 



2. Whilst amendments have been made to the scheme through the application 
process, it is considered that the absence of dual aspect properties on all corner 
plots, the lower level of detailing on certain units producing a noticeable 
difference in terms of design across the two halves of the site, and the styling of 
the standard house types has not been amended to reflect local distinctiveness. 
Therefore the proposals do not fully comply with policy SE1 of the Cheshire East 
Local Plan Strategy which requires that new development should create a sense 
of place by ensuring design solutions achieve a sense of place by protecting 
and enhancing the quality, distinctiveness and character of settlements.   

3. The proposed apartments within the scheme would back on to the rear of the 
properties, resulting in overlooking of these properties from the rear. The back 
to back measurements are at 14m and 16m which is contrary to saved policy 
DC38 of the Macclesfield Borough Local Plan which requires at least 25m for 
facing habitable room windows. Therefore it is considered that plots 63, 64, 65 
and the first floors of the apartment building would result in direct overlooking 
to habitable room windows and would injure the amenities of future occupiers 
contrary to policy SE1 of the Cheshire East Local Plan which states that all new 
developments should ensure that there is an appropriate level of privacy for new 
and existing residential properties. 

In order to give proper effect to the Committee’s intentions and without changing the 
substances of the decision, authority is delegated to the Head of Planning (Regulation) in 
consultation with the Chairman (or in their absence Vice Chairman) of the Strategic Planning 
Board to correct any technical slip or omission in the wording of the resolution, including 
wording of conditions and reasons, between approval of the minutes and issue of the decision 
notice. Should the application be subject to any appeal, the Heads of Terms as set out in the 
Section 106 part of the report should be secured as part of any S106 Agreement.







CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL

STRATEGIC PLANNING BOARD REPORT
____________________________________________________________________

Date:   31 January 2018

Report of:  David Malcolm Head of Planning (Regulation)

Title: Update following the resolution of Minded to Refuse  
application 12/3747N - Residential development up to a 
maximum of 189 dwellings; local centre (Class A1 to A5 
inclusive and D1) with maximum floor area of 1800sqm 
Gross Internal Area (GIA); employment development (B1b, 
B1c, B2 and B8) with a maximum floor area of 3,700sqm 
GIA; primary school; public open space including new village 
green, children's play area and allotments; green 
infrastructure including ecological area; new vehicle and 
pedestrian site access points and associated works, Land 
between Audlem Road/Broad Lane & Peter Destapleigh 
Way, Stapeley 

and

12/3746N - New highway access road, including footways 
and cycleway and associated works, Land off Peter 
Destapeleigh Way, Nantwich 

___________________________________                                                                      

1.0 Purpose of Report

1.1 Planning applications 12/3747N & 12/3746N were considered by 
Strategic Planning Board on 22nd November, 2017 where it was 
resolved that the Council would be Minded to Refuse the applications 
which are to be heard at a forthcoming Public Inquiry starting on the 
20th February. The report however did not give authority to negotiate a 
Section 106 Agreement in the event that the appeal, if it were to be 
allowed, and this report seeks that authority from Members.

1.2 The minutes from the meeting are as follows:
 
12/3747N:

That the Board be minded to refuse the application for the following 
reasons:-

1. The proposed development is unsustainable because it is located 
within the Open Countryside contrary to Policies PG6 (Open 
Countryside), SD1 (Sustainable Development in Cheshire East) and 
SD2 (Sustainable Development Principles) of the Cheshire East 



Local Plan Strategy, Policy RES.5 (Housing in the Open 
Countryside) of the Borough of Crewe and Nantwich Replacement 
Local Plan, and Policies H1.5 & H5 of the Stapeley Neighbourhood 
Plan, and the principles of the National Planning Policy Framework, 
which seek to ensure development is directed to the right location 
and open countryside is protected from inappropriate development 
and maintained for future generations enjoyment and use.

2. The proposal will result in loss of the best and most versatile 
agricultural land and given that the Authority can demonstrate a 
housing land supply in excess of 5 years, the applicant has also 
failed to demonstrate that there is a need for the development, 
which could not be accommodated elsewhere. The use of the best 
and most versatile agricultural land is unsustainable and contrary to 
Policy SE2 of the Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy and the 
provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework.

12/3746N:

That the Board be minded to refuse the application for the following 
reason:-

1. In the absence of planning permission for development of the 
adjacent site, there is no justification for approving an access road 
in open countryside which would be harmful to the character and 
appearance of the area and contrary to policy PG6 of the Cheshire 
East Local Plan Strategy.

2.0 Decision Required

2.1 To note and approve the Heads of Terms of a s106 legal agreement 
for Outline planning permission 12/3747N - Residential development 
up to a maximum of 189 dwellings; local centre (Class A1 to A5 
inclusive and D1) with maximum floor area of 1800sqm Gross Internal 
Area (GIA); employment development (B1b, B1c, B2 and B8) with a 
maximum floor area of 3,700sqm GIA; primary school; public open 
space including new village green, children's play area and allotments; 
green infrastructure including ecological area; new vehicle and 
pedestrian site access points and associated works, Land between 
Audlem Road/Broad Lane & Peter Destapleigh Way, Stapeley and 
12/3746N - New highway access road, including footways and 
cycleway and associated works, Land off Peter Destapeleigh Way, 
Nantwich.

3 Background 

3.1 As reported to Members in November, “The previous Appeal Decision 
in respect of this planning application was quashed in the High Court; 
the Appeal must therefore be reheard by the Planning Inspectorate. 
The purpose of this report is to seek an updated position from the 



Council’s Strategic Planning Board to take forward to the forthcoming 
Public Inquiry.”

3.1 A Unilateral Undertaking was submitted to the Planning Inspector at 
the Public Inquiry back in July 2014. The Undertaking in relation to the 
main application 12/3747N contained the following:

 Affordable Housing – 30% (65% Rental/35% Intermediate 
tenure)

 CAVAT (Capital Asset Value for Amenity Trees) Contribution - 
£87,526.00

 Education contribution – £347,081.00 (Primary Education)
 Highways contribution – £130,000 (Towards bus sops, 

pedestrian crossing and provision of a bus service for 3 years).
 Network Rail Contribution - £1,500 per dwelling
 Public Open Space – To be agreed, laid out and managed by 

the applicant in perpetuity.

           In relation to the application for the access road 12/3746N, 

 LNCA – Landscape and Nature Conservation Area to include 
agreed works, maintenance and the land only to be used for 
these purposes.

3.2 In the Secretary of State’s decision letter of August 2016 (that was 
subsequently challenged and quashed) he does however discuss the 
Section 106 contributions and states: 

“The Secretary of State concludes that the covenants and obligations 
within the Appeal A s106 UU, save for the Network Rail contribution 
and the sum for additional mitigation through the CAVAT method, 
comply with Regulation 122 of the CIL Regulations and the tests at 
paragraph 204 of the Framework.” Going on to state:

“As to the Network Rail contribution, the Secretary of State agrees with 
the Inspector that, for the reasons given at IR11.3-11.5, the figure for 
the Network Rail contribution in the Appeal A UU cannot be considered 
as fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the proposed 
development, and so would not satisfy the third test in Regulation 122 
of the CIL Regulations and paragraph 204 of the Framework. The 
Secretary of State agrees with the Inspector, for the reasons given at 
IR11.6, that the contribution relating to mitigation through the CAVAT 
method cannot be considered as fairly and reasonably related.”

In short The Secretary of State did not accept that the contributions 
towards Network Rail and CAVAT mitigation met the CIL Tests and as 
such should not go forward into any agreement.

4. Updated position



4.1 Following a re-consultation exercise in October 2017, prior to being 
reported to Members at SPB in November, and taking on board 
changes that have taken place since 2014 the following changes are 
recommended should be incorporated:

 The education contribution has changed now requiring a 
contribution towards Secondary and SEN but NOT primary.

 Taking on board the Secretary of State’s comments with 
regards to the Network Rail contribution and removing this as a 
requirement.

 As access is only now proposed from the north, there is no 
longer any need for access to the south, and as such there will 
be no impact on trees in this location and therefore no need for  
CAVAT mitigation. 

The following contributions are now suggested for the Heads of Terms 
at the forthcoming Inquiry:

Main Application 12/3747N:

• Affordable Housing – 30% (65% Rental/35% Intermediate 
tenure)

• Education contribution – £532,253.00 (Towards Secondary 
(£441,253.00) and SEN Education (£91,000) but NO Primary 
contribution).

• Highways contribution – £130,000 (Towards bus stops, 
pedestrian crossing and provision of a bus service for 3 years).

• Public Open Space – To be agreed, laid out and managed by 
the applicant in perpetuity.

Access road 12/3746N:

• LNCA – Landscape and Nature Conservation Area to include 
agreed works, maintenance and the land only to be used for 
these purposes.

Linking the two applications - The access shall be used as the sole 
point of access to the site considered under 12/3747N and no access 
to be taken from Audlem Road to the south.

4 Recommendation

To note and approve the Heads of Terms of the s106 legal agreement 
for: Outline planning permission for Residential development up to a 
maximum of 189 dwellings; local centre (Class A1 to A5 inclusive and 
D1) with maximum floor area of 1800sqm Gross Internal Area (GIA); 
employment development (B1b, B1c, B2 and B8) with a maximum floor 
area of 3,700sqm GIA; primary school; public open space including 
new village green, children's play area and allotments; green 
infrastructure including ecological area; new vehicle and pedestrian site 
access points and associated works and: New highway access road, 



including footways and cycleway and associated works, Land off Peter 
Destapeleigh Way, Nantwich

5 Financial Implications

5.1 There are no financial implications.

6 Legal Implications

6.1 The Borough Solicitor has been consulted on the proposals and raised 
no objections

7 Risk Assessment 

7.1 There are no risks associated with this decision. 

8 Reasons for Recommendation

8.1 To agree the Heads of Terms to enable the Borough Solicitor to draft the legal 
agreements to enable this matter to be discussed at the forthcoming Inquiry.

For further information:

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Ainsley Arnold
Officer: Adrian Crowther – Major Applications Team Leader
Tel No: 01625 383704
Email: Adrian.crowther@cheshireeast.gov.uk

Background Documents:

- Application 12/3747N & 12/3746N





CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL

STRATEGIC PLANNING BOARD
____________________________________________________________________

Date: 31st January 2018
Report of: David Malcolm: Head of Planning (Regulation) 
Title: Planning Appeals Report

1.0 Purpose of Report 

1.1 To summarise the outcome of Planning Appeals that have been 
decided between 1st October 2017 and 31st December 2017. The 
report provides information that should help measure and improve the 
Council’s quality of decision making in respect of planning applications.

2.0 Decision Required

2.1 That the report be noted.

3.0 Background

3.1 All of the Council’s decisions made on planning applications are subject 
to the right of appeal under section 78 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. Most appeals are determined by Planning 
Inspectors on behalf of the Secretary of State. However, the Secretary 
of State has the power to make the decision on an appeal rather than it 
being made by a Planning Inspector – this is referred to as a ‘recovered 
appeal’. 

3.2 Appeals can be dealt with through several difference procedures: 
written representations; Informal Hearing; or Public Inquiry. There is 
also a fast-track procedure for householder and small scale commercial 
developments.

3.3 All of the Appeal Decisions referred to in this report can be viewed in 
full online on the planning application file using the relevant planning 
reference number.

3.4 This report relates to planning appeals and does not include appeals 
against Enforcement Notices or Listed Building Notices.

4.0 Commentary on Appeal Statistics

4.1 The statistics on planning appeals for year to date are set out in 
Appendix 1. A full list of the appeals for the third quarter (Q3) is set out 
in Appendix 2.



4.2 The statistics in Appendix 1 are set into different components to enable 
key trends to be identified:

 Overall performance;
 Performance by type of appeal procedure;
 Performance on delegated decisions;
 Performance on committee decisions; 
 Overall numbers of appeals lodged;
 Benchmarking nationally.

4.3 The overall number of appeals lodged has remained consistent and 
averages out at approximately 120 planning appeals annually. It was 
previously reported that the number of appeals lodged was falling in the 
last quarter, however this was due to delays in the appeals being 
registered with the Council, not in the number of submissions reducing. 
120 appeals annually represent approximately 2.5% of all planning 
decisions that the Council makes. At present, approximately 1 in 4 
decisions to refuse planning permission will result in a planning appeal.

4.4 In terms of the outcomes of the appeals decided, more have been 
allowed than would be expected against a national average (with the 
exception of householder appeals). Overall, in the year to date, 36% of 
appeals have been allowed against a national average of 31%. 
However, the overall performance this quarter has been very strong, 
with only 17% of all appeals allowed.

4.5 The outcomes for the third quarter have been better than the national 
average for Public Inquiries, Hearings, Written Representations and 
Householder Fast-track Appeals.

4.6 In respect of Householder Appeals, only 7% were allowed compared to 
the national average for the previous quarter of 40%.

4.7 Only 10% of appeals against delegated decisions were allowed in the 
quarter, taking the yearly average down to 22%  - which is well below 
the national average of 31%

4.8 Appeals against committee decisions have been less favourable, 
although the outcomes have improved in the latest quarter.  Overall 
64% of appeals made against committee decisions have been allowed. 
In the third quarter this has reduced to 43%, but it is notable that all of 
the 3 appeals allowed were decisions made against officer 
recommendation. 

4.9 For the year to date 17 appeals have been allowed following decisions 
to refuse planning applications contrary to officer recommendation. 
When a committee has made a decision contrary to officer 
recommendation and the decision has been appealed, the 
development has been allowed in 71% of those cases.



4.10 Appendix 2 illustrates that one refusal of planning permission against 
officer recommendation was successfully defended by the Council at 
appeal. However, the overwhelming majority of decisions where officer 
recommendations were overturned have resulted in the appeal being 
allowed. These figures continue to emphasise that a decision contrary 
to officer recommendation based on empirical evidence and good 
planning grounds may be defended, but too often decisions are made 
contrary to officer advice without good reason and with insufficient 
evidence. The total of 24 appeals over the period against decisions 
made contrary to officer advice should be considered too many in itself.

4.11 It should be noted that, due to the timescales of the appeals process, 
these figures will reflect committee decisions made prior to the last 3 
months at the very latest.

4.12 It should also be emphasised that the appeal process runs to very strict 
procedural guidelines. Deadlines for appeal statements, site visits, 
hearing and Inquiries are fixed. A high volume of appeals places a 
significant burden on the planning department and it is good practice to 
work to reduce the number of appeals received. 

5.0 Commentary on Appeal Decisions

5.1 This section summaries several appeal decisions that have implications 
for the Council.  All of the decisions have importance for different 
reasons but due to the volume of decisions only a few are selected for 
comment in this report. Although one of the appeals referred to falls 
outside of the reporting period, it is referred to as it potential raises 
important issues for decision making.

5.2 The Council is now beginning to receive appeal decisions since the 
adoption of the Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy. Whilst the early 
decisions confirmed the Council’s definitive position of being able to 
demonstrate a five year supply of housing land, this position has been 
challenged via recent planning appeals at Public Inquiry.

5.3 On 8 November 2017, an appeal against the decision of the Council to 
refuse outline planning permission for up to 400 homes at White Moss 
Quarry, Alsager (WMQ) was dismissed due to the scheme’s conflict 
with the Local Plan settlement hierarchy and its spatial distribution of 
development. 

5.4 However, in his decision letter, the WMQ Inspector did not come to a 
clear conclusion whether Cheshire East had a five year supply of 
deliverable housing land. His view was that it was either slightly above 
or slightly below the required 5 years. In this context, the Inspector 
engaged the ‘tilted balance’ set out in the 4th bullet point of paragraph 
14 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). This introduces 
a presumption that planning permission is granting permission unless 



any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF 
taken as a whole

5.5 On 4 January 2018, an appeal against the non-determination of an 
outline planning permission for up to 100 homes at Park Road, 
Willaston was dismissed due to conflict with Local Plan policies that 
sought to protect designated Green Gap, open countryside and rural 
character. The Inspector also took the view that the housing land 
supply was either marginally above or below the required 5 years. On 
this basis, he adopted a ‘precautionary approach’ and assumed a worst 
case position in similarly engaging the ‘tilted balance’ under paragraph 
14 of the Framework.

5.6 The Council is currently reviewing this appeal decision and is taking 
legal advice on the approach taken by the Inspector towards housing 
land supply.  The Council is continuing to update its evidence regarding 
housing land supply to ensure that decisions are taken in the light of 
the most robust evidence available.  

5.7 What is clear from the WMQ and Park Road appeal decisions, is that 
policies within the adopted Local Plan Strategy are being given 
significant weight by Inspectors in deciding planning appeals, sufficient 
to warrant the dismissal of appeals where conflicts arise with them, 
even when the ‘tilted balance’ in paragraph 14 of the NPPF is engaged.

5.8 The decisions continue to emphasise the importance of maintaining a 
five year supply of housing land in the plan-led system. The Council’s 
five year supply will be further supplemented as allocated sites within 
the Local Plan Strategy are brought forward. In this context there is 
particular importance for decision makers in the planning process to be 
cognisant of the need for the delivery of the allocated housing sites.

5.9 Whilst many of the significant appeal decisions related to housing 
development, the Council has also received important decisions on 
other forms of development. One decision of note is application ref. 
16/1353M which was for a proposed water sports and outdoor activity 
centre at the former Mere Farm Quarry. 

5.10 This appeal was an example of a Member decision against officer 
advice and illustrates that can be a healthy part of the decision making 
process. In this case it had been emphasised that it was a balanced 
decision and there was evidence of ecological harm that officers were 
able to use at the appeal hearing. Interestingly, and somewhat 
unusually, the reasons that the Inspector dismissed the appeal were 
not directly related to the reason given by the Strategic Planning Board. 
Although the Inspector considered there would be some residual harm 
to the interests of biodiversity they were not considered to be 
significant. The appeal was dismissed as the Inspector considered the 



development to be inappropriate development in the Green Belt without 
the very special circumstances needed to justify it. 

5.11 The Inspector noted that there would be social and economic benefits 
to the proposal, including benefits to the rural economy and benefits to 
education, health and well-being. However, she did not consider that 
the benefits clearly outweighed the harm to the Green Belt that had 
been identified. One can interpret from the decision, that had the site 
been in a non-green belt countryside location the development would 
almost certainly have been allowed. The decision therefore serves to 
emphasise the strict control of development in the Green Belt.

6.0 Recommendation

6.1 That Members note the contents of the report.

7.0 Risk Assessment and Financial Implications

7.1 As no decision is required there are no risks or financial implications.

8.0 Consultations

8.1 None.

9.0 Reasons for Recommendation

9.1 To learn from outcomes and to continue to improve the Council’s 
quality of decision making on planning applications.

For further information:
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Ainsley Arnold
Officer: Peter Hooley – Planning & Enforcement Manager
Tel No: 01625 383705
Email: Peter.Hooley@cheshireeast.gov.uk





Quarterly Planning Appeals Report

Appendix 1. Planning Appeal Statistics

Public Inquiries Q1 Q2 Q3 Year to date
Number of 
appeals 
determined

1 1 3 5

Total Allowed 1 1  0 2
Total Dismissed 0 0  3 3
Percentage 
allowed

100% 100% 0% 40%

Hearings Q1 Q2 Q3 Year to date
Number of appeals 
determined

2 1 4 7

Total Allowed 1 0 1 2
Total Dismissed 1 1 3 5
Percentage 
allowed

50% 0% 25% 29%

Written 
representations

Q1 Q2 Q3 Year to date

Number of appeals 
determined

22 25 15 62

Total Allowed 13 11 4 28
Total Dismissed 9 14 11 34
Percentage 
allowed

59% 44% 27% 45%

All s.78 Planning Appeals decided 

Q1 (1st April 2017 to 30  June 2017)
Q2 (1st July 2017 to 30th Sept 2017)
Q3 (1st October 2017 to 31st December 2017)

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Year to date
Number of 
Planning Appeals 
determined

32 30  36 98

Total Allowed 17 12 6 35
Total Dismissed 
(%)

15 18 30 63

Percentage 
allowed

53% 40% 17% 36%

Note: appeals that were withdrawn, deemed invalid or part 
allowed/part dismissed are excluded from the figures provided.



Quarterly Planning Appeals Report

Householder 
Appeal Service

Q1 Q2 Q3 Year to date

Number of appeals 
determined

7 3 14 24

Total Allowed 2 0 1 3
Total Dismissed 5 3 13 21
Percentage 
allowed

29% 0% 7% 12.5%

Appeals against Delegated Decisions

Q1 Q2 Q3 Year to date
Number of appeals 
determined

18 18 29 65

Total Allowed 8 3 3 14
Total Dismissed 10 15 26 51
Percentage allowed 44% 17% 10% 22%

Appeals against Planning Committee Decisions

Q1 Q2 Q3 Year to date
Number of appeals 
determined

14 12 7 33

Total Allowed 9 9 3 21
Total Dismissed 5 3 4 12
Percentage allowed 64% 75% 43% 64%

Appeals Lodged this year

Q1 Q2 Q3 Year to date
Public Inquiries 0 3 0 3
Hearing 3 3 1 7
Written Rep 20 21 17 58
Household fast-
track

6 10 9 25

Total 29 37 27 93

Benchmarking

National figures for s78 Planning Appeals

July – Sept  2017 
Public 
Inquiry

Hearings Written 
Representations

All

Number of appeals 
determined

87 154 2418 2659

Percentage allowed 48% 40% 30% 31%



Quarterly Planning Appeals Report

National figures for Householder Appeal Service

  July – Sept  2017
Householder

Number of appeals 
determined

1377

Percentage allowed 40%



Quarterly Planning Appeals Report

Appendix 2. Appeals determined 1st October 2017 to 31st Sept 2017
LPA ref. Site Address Development Description (short 

description)
Decision Level Procedure Appeal 

Outcome
Over-
turn?

14/5671N Former Gorstyhill Golf Club, 
Abbey Park Way, Weston, 
CW2 5TD

Proposed housing development 
(approximately 900 new dwellings)

Strategic Planning Public Inquiry Dismissed N

15/4888N WHITE MOSS, BUTTERTON 
LANE, BARTHOMLEY, CW1 
5UJ

Outline application for the provision of up 
to 400 residential units

Strategic Planning Public Inquiry Dismissed N

16/1353M Former Mere Farm Quarry, 
Chelford Road/Alderley Road, 
Nether Alderley

Delivery of watersports and outdoor 
activity centre 

Strategic Planning Informal 
Hearing

Dismissed Y

16/2583C Land west of BRADWALL 
ROAD, SANDBACH

Outline planning permission for residential 
development to include details of ac

Strategic Planning Public Inquiry Withdrawn N

16/3286C 130, HOLMES CHAPEL 
ROAD, CONGLETON, CW12 
4NY

Demolition of existing dilapidated 
bungalow and garage and erection of 4 
no. dwellings

Southern Planning Written 
Representations

Allowed Y

17/0066N Land off WRENBURY ROAD, 
ASTON

Outline planning application for 
Residential development 

Southern Planning Written 
Representations

Dismissed N

17/1725N 331- 333, HUNGERFORD 
ROAD, CREWE, CW1 5EZ

Proposed conversion of existing 
properties to form four apartments

Southern Planning Written 
Representations

Allowed Y

17/1531M BOWLING GREEN, 
INGERSLEY VALE, 
BOLLINGTON

Variation of condition 3 (approved plans) 
of 15/2354M

Northern Planning Written 
Representations

Allowed Y

16/1367N Daisy Bank Farm, Mickley Hall 
Lane, Broomhall, CW5 8AJ

Erection of a permanent dwelling for a 
poultry worker.

Delegation Informal 
Hearing

Dismissed N/A

16/3092N Former Gorstyhill Golf Club, 
Abbey Park Way, Weston, 
CW2 5TD

Variation of S106 agreement Delegation Public Inquiry Dismissed N/A

16/3721M EAST WOODEND FARM, 
SCHOOLFOLD LANE, 
ADLINGTON, SK10 4PL

Proposed new dwelling at Eastwood End 
Farm.

Delegation Informal 
Hearing

Dismissed N/A

16/4910C 18, KINGS CRESCENT, 
MIDDLEWICH, CW10 9EQ

Change of Use for building of three dog 
kennels 

Delegation Written 
Representations

Dismissed N/A



Quarterly Planning Appeals Report

LPA ref. Site Address Development Description (short 
description)

Decision Level Procedure Appeal 
Outcome

Over-
turn?

16/5093M HAWTHORNE HOUSE, FREE 
GREEN LANE, OVER 
PEOVER, WA16 9QY

Lawful Development Certificate for 
existing use or operation

Delegation Written 
Representations

Dismissed N/A

16/5202C Dane Bank Bungalow, 
Knutsford Road, Holmes 
Chapel, CW4 7DE

Development of three dwellings (dormer 
bungalows), new access and landscaping.

Delegation Written 
Representations

Withdrawn N/A

16/5449M LAND AT DARK LANE, 
GAWSWORTH

Proposed new dormer bungalow Delegation Written 
Representations

Dismissed N/A

16/5594M Oak Tree House, PEPPER 
STREET, CHELFORD, SK11 
9BE

Removal of condition 4 on 16/3981M- 
Replacement dwelling with detached 
garage

Delegation Written 
Representations

Allowed N/A

16/6067N Willow Grove Farm, Long 
Lane, Alpraham, CW6 9LH

Outline Application for Key Workers 
Dwelling (Permanent) Re submission 
16/1025N

Delegation Informal 
Hearing

Allowed N/A

16/6180M GRASSLANDS NURSERY, 
FREE GREEN LANE, OVER 
PEOVER, WA16 9QY

Replacement building for the sales area Delegation Written 
Representations

Dismissed N/A

17/0292C LAND ADJACENT 17, 
RANDLE BENNETT CLOSE, 
SANDBACH

Proposed erection of a new one bedroom 
house

Delegation Written 
Representations

Dismissed N/A

17/0379M OAK COTTAGE FARM, 
SLADE LANE, MOBBERLEY, 
WA16 7QN

change of use of agricultural land to 
residential use

Delegation Written 
Representations

Dismissed N/A

17/0464C ARCLID COTTAGE BARN, 
REYNOLDS LANE, 
SANDBACH, CW11 4SU

Prior Approval for a proposed change of 
use of  agricultural building

Delegation Written 
Representations

Dismissed N/A

17/0789M HAWTHORNE HOUSE, FREE 
GREEN LANE, OVER 
PEOVER, WA16 9QY

Lawful development certificate Delegation Written 
Representations

Withdrawn N/A

17/0967M 1, WINDSOR CLOSE, 
POYNTON, SK12 1JL

Replacing 4ft 2in gate at the rear of the 
property with a new gate which is 6ft

Delegation Householder 
Appeal Service

Dismissed N/A

17/1041C Land at Beechwood Drive, 
Alsager

Dormer bungalow Delegation Written 
Representations

Dismissed N/A



Quarterly Planning Appeals Report

LPA ref. Site Address Development Description (short 
description)

Decision Level Procedure Appeal 
Outcome

Over-
turn?

17/1484M HIGHFIELD HOUSE, PEOVER 
LANE, SNELSON, SK11 9AW

Demolition of existing single storey 
extensions to rear and replacement

Delegation Householder 
Appeal Service

Dismissed N/A

17/1792M 69, OLDFIELD ROAD, 
SANDBACH, CW11 3LX

Single storey rear and partial side 
extension

Delegation Householder 
Appeal Service

Dismissed N/A

17/1808C 1, BURNS CLOSE, RODE 
HEATH, ST7 3UD

Retrospective application to replace 
bushes at the side of property with a 
fence

Delegation Householder 
Appeal Service

Dismissed N/A

17/1814M ASTLE HALL, HOLMES 
CHAPEL ROAD, CHELFORD, 
SK11 9AQ

Demolition of existing garage and 
construction of new ancillary 1 1/2 storey 
detached building

Delegation Householder 
Appeal Service

Dismissed N/A

17/1847M Land at WARFORD HALL 
DRIVE, GREAT WARFORD

Infill development comprising 2 two-storey 
detached dwellings 

Delegation Written 
Representations

Dismissed N/A

17/1863M 145, BUXTON ROAD, DISLEY, 
SK12 2HF

Kerb lowering to enable us to convert 
front garden into a drive.

Delegation Householder 
Appeal Service

Dismissed N/A

17/2015C 1, WRIGHTS LANE, 
SANDBACH, CW11 2JX

Double storey side extension and two 
smaller single storey extensions 

Delegation Householder 
Appeal Service

Dismissed N/A

17/2066C 123, CREWE ROAD, 
SANDBACH, CW11 4PA

Two storey extension to right side of 
house and rear of property. 

Delegation Householder 
Appeal Service

Deemed 
Invalid by 
DoE

N/A

17/2099C 11, WILLOW LANE, 
GOOSTREY, CW4 8PP

Ground & first floor front and side 
extensions with roof works to dwelling 

Delegation Householder 
Appeal Service

Dismissed N/A

17/2138C Coltsfoot Cottage, Tunstall 
Road, CONGLETON, CW12 
3QB

Proposed two storey rear extension and 
alterations

Delegation Householder 
Appeal Service

Dismissed N/A

17/2231C 24, High View, Mow Cop,ST7 
4YE

Double garage and link extension to main 
dwelling.

Delegation Householder 
Appeal Service

Dismissed N/A

17/2434M Little In Site, 54, Hollin Lane, 
Styal, SK9 4JH

Demolition of existing single storey 
dwelling and construction of new 2 storey 
dwelling

Delegation Written 
Representations

Dismissed N/A

17/3482C 2, Willow Barns, Newcastle 
Road South, Brereton, CW11 
1SB

Seeking retrospective planning 
permission for the erection of a porch 

Delegation Householder 
Appeal Service

Dismissed N/A



Quarterly Planning Appeals Report

LPA ref. Site Address Development Description (short 
description)

Decision Level Procedure Appeal 
Outcome

Over-
turn?

17/3565C 3, WELL BANK, SANDBACH, 
CW11 1FQ

Demolish existing garage and 
conservatory, construction of extensions

Delegation Householder 
Appeal Service

Part 
allowed/Part 
dismissed

N/A

17/3695M The Old School, MAIN ROAD, 
LANGLEY, SK11 0BU

Renovations, alteration and extension, 
with associated landscaping works

Delegation Householder 
Appeal Service

Allowed N/A

17/4008M 6, KENILWORTH AVENUE, 
KNUTSFORD, WA16 8JX

Extension to ground floor to rear and side, 
plus a loft conversion 

Delegation Householder 
Appeal Service

Dismissed N/A

17/4056N NEW HOUSE, LEA FORGE 
TROUT FARM, LONDON 
ROAD, WALGHERTON, CW5 
7LF

Erection of detached pitched roof garage 
including storage and personal workshop

Delegation Householder 
Appeal Service

Dismissed N/A





CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL

STRATEGIC PLANNING BOARD
____________________________________________________________________

Date of meeting: 31 January 2018
Report of: David Malcolm: Head of Planning (Regulation)
Title: Publication in Full of Viability Assessments

___________________________________                                                                      

1.0 Purpose of Report

1.1 To consider a notice of motion submitted by Councillor N Mannion to 
full Council on 14 December 2017 which has been referred to Strategic 
Planning Board for consideration.

1.2 The Motion is detailed as follows: 

Viability Assessments, introduced under the provisions of the NPPF in 
2012,  are submitted by developers of larger sites as evidence to justify 
removing or reducing their  contributions, most often with regard to our 
Local Plan requirement that a minimum of 30% of residential units in a 
development are designated as ‘affordable’.  

To date, the content of Viability Assessments submitted by planning 
applicants to Cheshire East have not been published, nor have any 
details been shared with the Council’s planning committees.

However, a growing number of planning authorities, most recently 
Greenwich and Southwark councils, joined in November 2017 by 
Bristol City Council, have started to publish all viability assessments 
submitted by developers in full.

Therefore, in the interests of openness and transparency it is proposed 
that: 

From 1st February 2018 all Viability Assessments submitted by 
developers shall be published in full on the Council’s planning 
portal. 

2.0 Decision Required

2.1   To note the contents of the report and that members agree to the 
proposed approach to allow further consideration of this matter as part 
of the wider Validation Checklist review

3.0 Background



3.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires that the cost 
of planning requirements should allow for competitive returns to a 
willing land owner and willing developer to enable development to be 
deliverable. The method for testing this must be considered within the 
context of the NPPF as a whole and achieve the overarching objective 
of sustainable development.

3.2 If a scheme does not meet the full policy requirements or the developer 
cannot meet all the required contributions then an applicant may seek 
to justify this shortfall on the grounds of viability. Viability is a material 
consideration and in these circumstances information in the form a 
viability assessment should be submitted by the applicant.  

3.3 Viability Assessments often contain sensitive financial information 
including construction costs, professional fees and land values.  As a 
result they are normally submitted as being confidential and not put on 
the public register/file.

4.0 Current Approach

4.1 Members will be aware that viability assessments have been submitted 
with a number of major applications over the last few years particularly 
in relation to residential schemes.

4.2 Any such assessment is kept confidential and not published onto the 
public file – often at the request of the applicant.

4.3 When they are received in support of a reduced level of contribution or 
policy compliance, the Local Planning Authority appoint external 
surveyors to assess and test the Viability Assessments as to whether 
there is agreement on the information submitted and whether the costs 
are reasonable taking account of the industry standards.  Discussion 
between the respective professional surveyors does take place.  On 
occasion the detailed scrutiny of the information does lead to further 
contributions being secured.

4.4 Officers do try and secure a summary public’ version of the viability 
information to enable an element of transparency to be maintained – 
particularly when reductions in contributions are being supported.  
However, at best, this often still only leads to the headline figures being 
referred to in Officer Reports.  Therefore while detailed scrutiny of the 
viability is carried out this could be perceived as being done ‘behind 
closed doors’ and not exposed to the normal public scrutiny of other 
application information.

5.0 Emerging Approach – Other Authorities experience

5.1 The National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) states that 
transparency of viability evidence is encouraged wherever possible.



5.2 More recently the direction of travel in regards to viability information is 
for transparency to achieve greater public accountability and trust in the 
planning process. The London Borough Development Viability Protocol 
(November 2016) and Homes for Londoners: Affordable Housing and 
Viability Supplementary Planning Guidance (August 2017) both set out 
that Viability Assessment’s containing standardised information are 
expected to be submitted at validation stage and that these should be 
available to be viewed by the public alongside the rest of the 
application submission documents. The London SPG states,

…given the importance of wider scrutiny and the direction of travel 
indicated by information tribunal decisions, the Mayor will treat 
information submitted as part of, and in support of, a viability 
assessment transparently. This information should be available for 
public scrutiny and comment like all other elements of a planning 
application, as should any review or assessment of the appraisal 
carried out by or for the LPA. As such, boroughs should implement 
procedures which promote greater transparency where not already in 
place.

5.3 In September 2017 the Department for Communities and Local 
Government (DCLG) released a consultation paper titled Planning for 
the Right Homes in the Right Places seeking views on a number 
changes to planning policy and legislation, much of which was initially 
set out in the latest housing white paper published in February 2017. 
This consultation document has sections on viability and transparency 
and states, ‘We propose to update planning guidance to help make 
viability assessments simpler, quicker and more transparent‘.

5.4 A number of London Authorities, for example, the Royal Borough of 
Greenwich and the London Borough of Hackney require Viability 
Assessments at validation stage with an assumption that these will also 
be available at certain times to be viewed by the general public. 
Greenwich’s local validation requirements which were adopted in 2016 
set out that Viability Assessments are to be published in their entirety 
with no exceptions.

5.5 The London Borough of Hackney, and a number of other London 
Boroughs such as Islington and Lambeth also publish full un-redacted 
details of the viability information unless there are exceptional 
circumstances. In these cases the applicant is required to set out a 
clear case for the exception. The council will assess the sensitivity 
against the test of public interest. In most instances it is not considered 
that commercial sensitivities would override the public interest.

5.6 The London Borough of Southwark expects full transparency of 
documents but only make the full viability details public one week 
before the decision date of the application. While the practicalities of 
such a prescriptive approach could be difficult it appears that there is 
no indication that full disclosure of details has resulted in developers 



being dissuaded to submit planning applications in specific boroughs 
with these policies in place.

5.7 Since the publication of The London Borough Development Viability 
Protocol (November 2016) and Homes for Londoners: Affordable 
Housing and Viability Supplementary Planning Guidance (August 2017) 
it is expected that all London Boroughs will be working towards 
transparency of viability information in the future.

5.8 Brighton and Hove City Council have also just recently agreed to 
publication of un-redacted Viability Assessments where policy 
requirements/contributions are not being met.  This followed a period of 
consultation and will be reflected in their updated validation 
requirements for planning applications.

6.0 Conclusion and Next steps

6.1 The Local Planning Authority relies on professional expertise to 
scrutinise any submitted viability assessments to ensure that any 
contributions on planning applications are maximised and this will 
remain the case.  

6.2 It is however recognised that the process is less than transparent and 
does not give the open approach to availability of information as the 
rest of the planning process does.  With the odd exception all other 
planning application documentation is open to the public.

6.3 The number of local authorities which are publishing un-redacted 
viability assessments, although small, does appear to be growing.  This 
is particularly the case where proposals include non-compliance with 
policy/contributions.  

6.4 Recent Government consultations such as those within the ‘Planning 
for the Right Homes in the Right Places’ are also advocating a simpler 
and more transparent approach.

6.5 A transparent approach to decision making is a strong justification and 
it therefore seems timely to review the current process.  This will also 
tie in with a review of the Validation Checklists for applications which is 
already well under way.

6.6 Next steps:
 Draft proposals for review of viability assessments
 Align with review of Validation Checklists
 Undertake the appropriate public consultation as part of the wider 

review
 Review consultations and prepare future report.
 

7.0      Recommendation



7.1 To note the contents of the report and that members agree to the 
proposed approach to allow further consideration of this matter as part 
of the wider Validation Checklist review.

8.0      Risk Assessment and Financial Implications

8.1 There are no risks or financial implications at this time.

9.0      Consultations

9.1 None.  

10.0    Reasons for Recommendation

10.1 To ensure that the appropriate approach is adopted in dealing with any 
future changes to how viability assessments are handled

For further information:
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Ainsley Arnold
Officer: David Malcolm – Head of Planning Regulation
Tel No: 01270 686744
Email: david.malcolm@cheshireeast.gov.uk




	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	Minutes

	5 16/6237M-Demolition of existing clubhouse, erection of new clubhouse, laying out of new pitches and residential development of 76 dwellings, Priory Park, Priory Lane, Macclesfield for Jones Homes North West Ltd and Macclesfield Rugby Union Football Club
	6 Update following the resolution of Minded to Refuse  application 12/3747N - Residential development up to a maximum of 189 dwellings; local centre (Class A1 to A5 inclusive and D1) with maximum floor area of 1800sqm Gross Internal Area (GIA); employment development (B1b, B1c, B2 and B8) with a maximum floor area of 3,700sqm GIA; primary school; public open space including new village green, children's play area and allotments; green infrastructure including ecological area; new vehicle and pedestrian site access points and associated works, Land between Audlem Road/Broad Lane & Peter Destapleigh Way, Stapeley  and 12/3746N - New highway access road, including footways and cycleway and associated works, Land off Peter Destapeleigh Way, Nantwich <br/>
	7 Planning Appeals
	Appeals Quarterly Report Jan 2018   - Appendices

	8 Publication in Full of Viability Assessments

